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Dovre Group in Brief2

Dovre Group is a global provider of project management 

services. The Group’s parent Dovre Group Plc is domiciled in 

Finland and is listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki (symbol DOV1V).

Dovre Group has two business areas: Project Personnel 

and Consulting. Dovre Group’s Project Personnel business area 

has over 30 years of experience as a global provider of pro-

ject professionals for large investment projects. The Group’s 

Consulting business area operates in the Nordic countries and 

provides management and project management expertise for 

Dovre Group in Brief
the development and execution of large investment projects.

In 2015, Dovre Group’s net sales were EUR 115.9 million and 

EBITDA excluding non-recurring items EUR 1.5 million. The 

Group’s operating result was EUR -0.9 million. Project person-

nel business accounted for 94% and consulting for 6% of the 

net sales. Dovre Group employs around 700 people worldwide.

Our strategic targets are EUR 200 million in net sales and 

EUR 10 million in operating result in 2019.
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CEO’s Review

Strategy into action in a challenging market
The main event of 2015 was the merger with NPC, which we 

announced in March and completed in May. The merger made 

us market leader in Norway, and gave us a strong position in 

the Asia Pacific market. We are now stronger and more inter-

national. We can now better serve clients and consultants on 

a global scale.

In November, we updated our Focused Growth Strategy 

for 2016-2019. We will focus on providing consulting services 

and personnel to owners of large projects. We will exit non-

core and non-performing businesses. The target for 2019 is 

to reach 200 MEUR in sales and 10 MEUR in operating profit 

and to become the most attractive employer in our business.

The global megatrends – population growth, urbanization, 

increasing project complexity and outsourcing – support our 

business in the long term. In the short term, our traditional 

market in upstream oil & gas remains challenging. Our res-

ponse is diversification and cost efficiency.

Our diversification is progressing: A renewable energy 

project in North America, employing close to 40 Dovre Group 

project professionals, is currently our second largest ongoing 

project. Our service model and our network of experienced 

project professionals is increasingly appreciated among new 

clients. In 2015 around 20% of our business was outside up-

stream oil & gas, and the number continues to increase.

Our cost efficiency campaign continued throughout 2015. 

We announced and implemented annual cost savings of 1.3 

MEUR, which will have full effect in 2016. In line with our strat-

egy, we sold our Swedish operations in November. We will 

continue to identify and implement cost savings in 2016.

Many things changed in 2015, but the most important fact 

remains: We continue to serve the world’s leading companies 

in their most demanding projects – and the feedback contin-

ues to be positive. We consistently score highest points for 

quality. I take this opportunity to extend my deep gratitude to 

each employee, every project consultant and every Dovre Club 

member for your valuable contribution in 2015. Thank you all! 

Patrick von essen

Ceo

”Feedback from clients 
continues to be positive and 
we consistently score  
the highest points for quality.”



Project Personnel4

Project Personnel
Dovre Group’s Project Personnel business area 
focuses on providing experienced project pro-
fessionals to large investment projects. The 
Group has over 30 years of experience in the 
project business. Our main markets are the 
Nordic countries, Asia Pacific, North America, 
and the Middle East.

Our main hubs are located in Norway, Singapore, Canada, Unit-

ed States, United Arab Emirates, Finland, Russia, and South 

Korea. At the end of 2015, the Group employed around 700 

project personnel in 24 countries across the world.

Project Personnel business is about 
trust and loyalty

Dovre Group’s clients are leading private companies. Of the 

world’s 10 largest companies, five are our clients. We make 

sure that our clients have access to the best project profes-

sionals – whenever or wherever they need them. As a publicly 

listed company, we are a transparent and trustworthy partner 

for our clients, and consistently get highest ranking for quality 

from our clients.

The key to success in the project personnel business is hav-

ing access to the best project people. Many of our consultants 

have been with us for decades, on numerous different assign-

ments around the world. We take good care of our consultants, 

and together we take good care of our clients.

2015 – Turning a challenging market into 
an opportunity

The demand for project personnel services in upstream oil & gas 

continued to slide in 2015. In line with our strategy, we merged 

with NPC, becoming a market leader in Norway and establishing 

a strong presence in Asia Pacific. We continue to diversify into 

new client segments.

Project Personnel’s net sales increased from the previous 

year, reaching EUR 108.8 (91.1) million in 2015. Project Person-

nel’s operating result was EUR 1.0 (2.5) million. Lower profit-

ability was due to non-recurring items related to the merger 

and restructuring as well as the sliding margins in oil & gas. 

In 2015, the average number of personnel employed by 

Project Personnel was 599 (428). 28 (41) % of the person-

nel were independent contractors. Dovre Group conducts a 

monthly review of project personnel’s safety at work. No in-

cidents were reported to the company in 2015.

Consolidation, diversification and cost prudence

There is a clear consolidation trend in the market. Many cli-

ents wish to work with a fewer number of service providers, 

who can provide a wider range of services and in multiple 

locations around the world. Dovre Group is well positioned 

to meet this trend.

In line with our strategy, we are seeking growth mainly out-

side upstream oil & gas. Our networks in oil & gas are proving 

to be a valuable asset for other industries: People with experi-

ence from upstream oil & gas projects are highly appreciated 

for their project competence and safety awareness. Many of 

them are today working in hydropower, power transmission 

and chemical industry projects.

In 2015 we announced and implemented Group-wide cost 

savings of EUR 1.3 million per year. Going forward, we continue 

to improve our cost efficiency.

Strategic targets

Dovre Group’s strategic vision is long-term client relationships, 

top-motivated employees, and faster than market growth. In 

Project Personnel, we will continue to expand our client base 

beyond oil & gas and to improve our work processes and sys-

tems to better leverage economies of scale. We are building 

a solid portfolio of long-term framework agreements with 

existing and new clients. We aim to become the most attrac-

tive employer in the industry, with exciting projects and career 

opportunities. Our Group level financial targets for 2019 are 

EUR 200 million in sales and an operating profit of 5 per cent.
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Steady business for Consulting in 2015

In 2015, net sales decreased slightly compared to the previous 

year, reaching EUR 7.1 (7.8) million. The full year operating 

profit improved slightly from 2014, reaching EUR 0.8 (0.8) 

million in 2015.

In 2015, the average number of personnel employed by 

Consulting was 45 (48).

Consolidation in the consulting market

Dovre Group expects the demand for consulting services to 

remain reasonably steady in 2016. We have seen consolidation 

in the consulting market, and expect this trend to continue. 

There is also a risk that the uncertainty in the oil & gas market 

influences the market in other sectors more than expected. 

At the same time, we have a strong order stock in Norway 

and, as the Norwegian public sector aims to invest counter-

cyclically, investments in infrastructure projects are expected 

to increase. Demand in Finland is expected to remain on the 

same level as in 2015.

Dovre Group aims to expand its consulting business 

through a continued structured market approach – by focusing 

on a number of key clients, expanding our work with them, and 

gaining new key clients. We also pursue strategic recruiting, 

strategic partnering, and selective acquisitions.

Consulting
Dovre Group’s Consulting business area pro-
vides advisory services for the effective devel-
opment and execution of large projects. We 
operate in the Nordic countries, with offices in 
Finland and Norway.

Our clients include major project owners in both the private 

and the public sector, operating in the following main indus-

tries:

•	 Oil	and	gas

•	 Energy

•	 Transportation

•	 Building	and	construction

•	 Defense

With long-standing experience in the industry, we focus on the 

main areas of project management and procurement consult-

ing, where we supply our clients in different industries with:

•	 Strategic	consulting

•	 Independent	analyses

•	 Organizational	improvement

•	 Operational	management

Large projects typically entail several years of concept de-

velopment and planning before execution, and involve large 

scale investments. Many of our clients have project portfolios 

covering several projects of different sizes, with each project in 

a different phase, or portfolios of large procurement projects. 

Others have only one major project, often very large compared 

to their other investments or operational costs. Our range of 

services may be grouped into the following main categories: 

•	 Governance	and	portfolio	management

•	 Risk	and	uncertainty	management

•	 Concept	and	project	evaluation

•	 Program	and	project	management

•	 Contract	and	procurement	management

•	 Project	management	methodology	and	tools

Key to successful consulting is the ability to provide clients 

with valuable advice over time. We focus on building long-term 

relationships with our clients through frame agreements and 

practical recommendations. Our clients recognize our exper-

tise and have so far renewed existing frame agreements for 

further contract periods. As an example, Dovre Group is one 

of only four companies that have carried out external inde-

pendent reviews of major public investment projects for the 

Norwegian public sector since the practice of external review 

started more than 15 years ago.

•	 Health

•	 Justice

•	 Education

•	 Finance

•	 IT	and	communication
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Stock exchange releases in 2015
27 Nov 2015  Dovre Group’s financial reporting in 2016

9 Nov 2015   Dovre Group’s briefing on Q3/2015 interim  
 report on November 10

5 Nov 2015   Correction: Dovre Group sells its consulting  
 business in Sweden

5 Nov 2015   Dovre Group sells its consulting business 
  in Sweden

5	Nov	2015			 Dovre	Group	interim	report	January	1–	 	
 September 30, 2015

26 Oct 2015  Dovre Group releases Q3/2015 interim report  
 on November 5, 2015

1 Oct 2015   Dovre Group lowers its financial guidance 
  for 2015

13	Aug	2015		 Dovre	Group’s	interim	report	January	1–June		
 30, 2015

3 Aug 2015   Dovre Group releases Q2/2015 interim report  
 on August 13, 2015 at 8.45am

28 May 2015  Changes in Dovre Group’s financial calendar  
 for 2015

28 May 2015  Changes in Dovre Group’s share subscription  
 prices

28 May 2015  Notification pursuant to Chapter 9, Section 10  
 of the Finnish Securities Market Act

28 May 2015  Dovre Group updates its financial guidance 
  for 2015

28 May 2015 Merger between Dovre Group and NPC completed

29	Apr	2015		Dovre	Group	interim	report	January	1–March		
 31, 2015

16 Apr 2015  Invitation to Dovre Group’s briefing on interim  
 report Q1/2015

25 Mar 2015  Decisions of the Annual General Meeting of  
 Dovre Group Plc

4 Mar 2015   Announcement regarding an agreement   
 which, if completed, will result in change of  
 holdings (Chapter 9, Section 10 of the Finnish  
 Securities Market Act)

4 Mar 2015   Dovre Group’s Annual Report 2014 published

4 Mar 2015   Notice of the Annual General Meeting of Dovre  
 Group Plc

4 Mar 2015   Norwegian Petroleum Consultants to join Dovre  
 Group

2 Mar 2015   Increase in the number of shares in Dovre Group 
 Plc

12	Feb	2015		 Dovre	Group	financial	statements	January	1–	
 December 31, 2014

2 Feb 2015   Invitation to Dovre Group’s briefing on financial  
 statements 2014

All stock exchange releases are available on the company’s website at www.dovregroup.com > Investors

Investor Relations
The primary objective of Dovre Group’s investor relations is 

to ensure that the market has at all times access to accurate 

and sufficient information to support the correct valuation of 

the company’s share.

Up-to-date information about Dovre Group as an invest-

ment is available on the company’s website www.dovregroup.

com -> Investors. All financial releases can also be obtained 

by emailing to info@dovregroup.com.

Dovre Group reports half-yearly on its financial perfor-

mance in accordance with the International Financial Report-

ing Standards (IFRS).

Financial reporting in 2016

•	 Q1	trading	statement	for	January	1–March	31,	2016	on	
Thursday, April 28, 2016

•	 Half-year	report	for	January	1–June	30,	2016	on	Thursday,	
	 July	28,	2016

•	 Q3	trading	statement	for	January	1–September	30,	2016	
on Thursday, October 27, 2016.

Dovre Group’s Annual General Meeting will be held at Suoma-

lainen Klubi in Helsinki (address: Kansakoulukuja 3) on Thurs-

day, March 17, 2016, at 2.30pm.

Contact information

Heidi Karlsson, CFO, tel. +358-20-436 2000

info@dovregroup.com

Share information

Dovre Group Plc’s shares are listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. 

Dovre Group has one class of shares (trading symbol: DOV1V).

Market: Nasdaq Helsinki

ISIN: FI0009008098

Symbol: DOV1V

Segment: OMX Helsinki Small Cap

Sector: Industrial goods and services

Number of shares on December 31, 2015: 99,868,769

For more information: www.nasdaqomxnordic.com
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1. The Report of the Board of Directors  
Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2015

Business performance

In 2015, the difficult market situation in the oil and gas sec-

tor was reflected especially in our H2 financials. What was 

positive was our cash flow that was stronger than in 2014, in 

particular in Q4. We also secured new orders in power gen-

eration, power transmission, and process industry projects. 

While diversification is progressing well, it is not yet enough 

to fully compensate for the continuing drop in demand in the 

oil and gas industry.

In 2015, our comparable net sales (not including NPC) fell 

significantly from the previous year in all our key markets. Our 

full year and Q4 operating result was negative due to large non-

recurring items, which were due to the merger with NPC in the 

first half of the year (external advisory costs and restructuring 

costs) and the restructuring in Norway and Sweden in Q4.

The most important event in 2015 was the Group’s merger 

with NPC, completed on May 28, 2015. As a result of the merger, 

we have become a market leader in Norway and have gotten 

a strong foothold in the Asia Pacific.

Despite a difficult market situation we secured a number 

of frame agreements in both business areas during 2015. In Q1, 

the Group signed a frame agreement with Frontica Advantage 

AS covering project management and technical consultancy 

services in the Oslo region in Norway. The frame agreement 

Key figures

is valid for a minimum of 3 years, with an option for two one 

year extensions. In Q2, the Group’s Consulting business area 

was awarded two new frame agreements in Norway, one with 

Statsbygg, the Norwegian government’s key advisor in con-

struction and property affairs, and the other with Avinor, a 

company operating under the Norwegian Ministry of Trans-

port and Communications and responsible for state-owned 

airports. The frame agreement with Statsbygg is valid for one 

year, with an option for two one year extensions. The frame 

agreement with Avinor is valid for two years, with an option for 

three one year extensions. In Q3, the Group’s Project Person-

nel business area renewed its frame agreement with Statnett, 

the system operator in the Norwegian energy system, for the 

supply of project management personnel to Statnett’s major 

investment projects. The frame agreement is valid for two 

years, with options for two one year extensions. In addition, 

the Group’s Consulting business area was awarded a four-year 

frame agreement with the Norwegian Ministry of Finance to 

perform independent reviews according to the quality assur-

ance system for major public investment projects in Norway.

We have responded to the changing market situation by of-

fering our project personnel services to other client segments 

euR million 2015 2014 Change %

Net sales 115.9 98.9 17.2

EBITDA excl. non-recurring items 1.5 2.1 -27.8

% of net sales 1.3 % 2.2 % 

Non-recurring items *) -1.9 -0.5 -243.7

Operating result (EBIT) -0.9 1.2 -173.1

% of net sales -0.7 % 1.2 % 

Result  -2.0 0.3 -849.6

% of net sales -1.7 % 0.3 % 

Net cash flow from operations 2.0 1.9 8.0

Net debt -5.2 -9.1 -42.9

Debt-equity ratio (Gearing), % -19.1 % -42.2 % -54.7

Earnings per share, EUR:   

 Undiluted -0.02 0.00 -658.0

 Diluted -0.02 0.00 -659.7

*) In 2015, non-recurring items consist of external advisory services and restructuring costs related to the merger with NPC, loss on disposal 

after allocations of goodwill of the Group’s consulting business in Sweden, and a restructuring provision in Norway. In 2014, non-recurring 

items consisted primarily of external advisory services, costs related to the Group’s withdrawal from biorenewables consulting, and changes 

in personnel.
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and by significant Group-wide cost saving measures. In 2015, 

we implemented cost saving programs that will lead to annual 

cost savings of EUR 1.3 million from 2016 onwards.

We further continue diversification into other client seg-

ments. Our network of experienced oil and gas project profes-

sionals is a significant asset when reaching out to new clients 

and new client segments.

We expect demand in the oil and gas industry to decline fur-

ther in 2016, although not as steeply as in 2015. We prepare for 

profitable future growth through intensive sales work, strong 

focus on new client segments, and continuous improvement 

of cost efficiency.

Net sales and profitability

NPC’s share of the Group’s net sales was EUR 31.4 million 

during the financial year. NPC’s net sales are included in the 

Project Personnel business area and in the market areas EMEA 

and APAC. NPC’s share of the Group’s earnings before interest, 

taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and excluding 

non-recurring items was EUR 1.0 million during the financial 

year. NPC’s result is included in the Group’s Project Personnel 

business area.

In 2015, Dovre Group’s net sales increased by 17.2% and 

were EUR 115.9 (98.9) million. Excluding NPC’s share, the 

Group’s net sales decreased by 16%. Currencies did not have a 

significant impact on the decline. Project Personnel accounted 

for 94 (92) % and Consulting for 6 (8) % of the Group’s net 

sales.

Net sales for Project Personnel increased by 19.4%, total-

ing EUR 108.8 (91.1) million. In constant currencies and exclud-

ing NPC’s net sales, Project Personnel’s net sales decreased 

by approx. 17%. Net sales for Consulting decreased by approx. 

8.5%, totaling EUR 7.1 (7.8) million. In constant currencies, 

Consulting business area’s net sales decreased by approx. 3%.

By market area, EMEA’s (Finland, Norway, Sweden, and the 

Middle East) net sales totaled EUR 68.1 (58.0) million, which is 

59 (59) % of the Group’s net sales. Net sales for AMERICAS 

(Canada and the US) were EUR 30.6 (36.0) million, accounting 

for 26 (36) % of the Group’s net sales. Net sales for APAC (Sin-

gapore, Russia (Sakhalin), Korea, and in 2014 Australia) were 

EUR 17.2 (4.9) million, which is 15 (5) % of the Group’s net sales.

In 2015, the Group’s EBITDA excluding non-recurring items 

was EUR 1.5 (2.1) million, which is 1.3 (2.2) % of net sales. Pro-

ject Personnel’s EBITDA excluding non-recurring items was 

EUR 2.2 (2.6) million. Consulting business area’s EBITDA ex-

cluding non-recurring items was EUR 0.9 (0.8) million. EBITDA 

excluding non-recurring items of the Group’s Other functions 

was EUR -1.4 (-1.2) million.

In 2015, the Group reported non-recurring costs, EUR 1.9 

(0.5) million in total. The Group’s non-recurring costs consist of 

external advisory services and restructuring costs relating to 

the Group’s merger with NPC, completed on May 28, 2015, EUR 

-1.1 million in total; loss on disposal after allocations of goodwill 

of the Group’s consulting business in Sweden, announced on 

November 5, 2015, EUR -0.4 million in total; and a restructur-

ing provision of approx. EUR -0.3 million in Norway in Q4. 

Non-recurring items relating to external advisory services 

are reported in the Group’s Other functions and restructuring 

costs in the Project Personnel business area. Non-recurring 

items relating to the sale of the Group’s consulting business 

in Sweden have not been allocated to business areas.

Project Personnel’s restructuring costs recorded in con-

nection with the Group’s merger with NPC relate to cost saving 

measures (such as combining offices and overlapping func-

tions) implemented in the business area’s Norwegian unit as a 

result of the merger. Merger related cost savings are estimated 

to be approx. EUR 1 million in value annually, with the full effect 

estimated from the beginning of 2016.

The Group’s result before taxes was EUR -1.8 (0.9) million. 

The result includes the Group’s share, EUR -1.3 (-0.6) million, 

of the results of its joint ventures SaraRasa Biomass Pte Ltd. 

and SaraRasa Bioindo Pte Ltd, including EUR -0.8 million of 

the Group’s share of the write-offs recognized for raw materi-

als and factory buildings in connection with the relocation of 

SaraRasa Bioindo’s factory. The Group’s result after taxes was 

EUR -2.0 (0.3) million.

The Group’s earnings per share was EUR -0.02 (0.00). 

The Group’s return on average capital employed before taxes 

(ROI) was -6.1 (3.9) %.
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Cash flow, financing, and investments

On December 31, 2015, the Group balance sheet total was EUR 

52.0 (35.5) million. The increase in the balance sheet total was 

mainly due to the merger with NPC.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents totaled EUR 10.9 

(10.3) million. In addition, the parent company and the sub-

sidiaries have unused credit limits.

At the end of the financial year, the Group’s equity ratio 

was 52.5 (60.4) % and the debt-equity ratio (gearing) -19.1 

(-42.2) %. The Group’s interest-bearing liabilities amounted 

to EUR 5.7 (1.3) million, accounting for 10.9 (3.6) % of the 

Group’s shareholders’ equity and liabilities. A total of EUR 

3.4 million of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities were cur-

rent and a total of EUR 2.3 million non-current. The increase 

in interest-bearing liabilities was due to a loan drawn by the 

Group’s parent in Q3 and NPC’s operations.

Net cash flow from operating activities was EUR 2.0 (1.9) 

million, which includes EUR 1.5 (1.2) million change in working 

capital. During the financial year, the Group paid a total of EUR 

0.5 (1.1) million in taxes.

Net cash flow from investing activities was EUR -0.2 (-1.1) 

million.

Mergers, acquisitions, and divestments

merger with norwegian Petroleum Consulting group aS

Dovre Group acquired 100% of the shares in Norwegian Petro-

leum Consulting Group AS (NPC) in May. The transaction was 

completed on May 28, 2015. In the transaction, Dovre Group 

gave the sellers a total of 36,453,018 new shares (Considera-

tion Shares) in the company and a cash component of EUR 

410,300. A total of EUR 237,500 of the cash component was 

paid to the sellers on May 28, 2015 and the remainder, EUR 

172,800, on September 30, 2015. The merger both strength-

ens the Group’s market position globally and in particular in 

the Norwegian market and leads to improved economies of 

scale. Merger related cost savings are estimated to be around 

EUR 1 million annually in value, and their full effect has been 

estimated from the beginning of 2016.

NPC’s share of the Group’s net sales was EUR 13.5 million in 

Q4 and EUR 31.4 million during the financial year. NPC’s share 

of the Group’s EBITDA excluding non-recurring items was EUR 

0.6 million in Q4 and EUR 1.0 million during the financial year. 

Had the business been consolidated from January 1, 2015, the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income would have 

included net sales of EUR 54.8 million and EBITDA excluding 

non-recurring items of EUR 1.3 million.

Sale of Dovre group aB’s iT consulting business

On November 5, 2015, Dovre Group’s fully-owned Swedish 

subsidiary Dovre Group AB signed an agreement to sell its 

IT consulting business in Sweden to Visuell Planering och 

Net cash flow from financing activities was EUR -0.8 (-4.2) 

million. During the financial year, the Group drew out new loans 

worth a total of EUR 5.3 (0.1) million, a total of EUR 3.0 (0.0) 

million of which were non-current and a total of EUR 2.3 (0.1) 

million current. The Group paid a total of EUR 5.1 (4.4) million 

in dividends during the financial year.

Gross investments excluding the merger with NPC totaled 

EUR 2.1 (0.3) million, which were due to investments in the 

Group’s joint venture SaraRasa Bioindo Pte. Ltd (Bioindo). 

A total of EUR 1.4 million of investments in Bioindo relate to 

the company’s restructuring, completed in June, whereby 

convertible bonds given by Dovre Group to Bioindo in 2014 

were converted into shares in Bioindo.

In 2015, the Group reported additions of approx. EUR 4.1 

million in intangible assets (customer agreements and brand) 

and approx. EUR 10.5 million in goodwill as a result of the 

merger with NPC. The balance sheet goodwill totaled EUR 

15.6 (6.6) million on December 31, 2015. No indications of im-

pairment exist.

Praktisk PPM AB, a Swedish privately owned company. Three 

Dovre Group AB’s employees and all customer contracts were 

transferred to the buyer immediately. The parties agreed not 

to disclose the value of the transaction. As a result of the 

transaction, part of the goodwill of the Group’s Consulting 

segment was allocated against the purchase price, and the 

Group recorded a primarily non-cash item, a loss on disposal, 

totaling approx. EUR -0.4 million in Q4.

Dovre Club’s incorporation

In late 2013, Dovre Group launched Dovre Club, an online ser-

vice platform that supports the Group’s Project Personnel 

business area’s recruitment and sales functions. Dovre Club 

offers tools for more efficient recruitment and sales processes 

and features a membership loyalty program, which covers both 

the Group’s current consultants and potential new candidates. 

With the help of Dovre Club, Dovre Group is able to expand the 

Group’s international network of project professionals. Dovre 

Club Ltd was incorporated in late 2015 and is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Dovre Group Plc.

SaraRasa

Dovre Group has been a minority shareholder in SaraRasa 

Biomass Pte. Ltd. (Biomass), a Singaporean project develop-

ment company specialized in renewable energy, and in its first 

development project, SaraRasa Bioindo Pte. Ltd. (Bioindo), 

since 2012. Bioindo is a pellet producer using sustainable waste 
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materials. In June, the owners of Biomass and Bioindo com-

pleted a restructuring, whereby the convertible bonds given by 

Dovre Group Plc to Bioindo in 2014 were converted into shares 

in Bioindo. As a result of the restructuring, Dovre Group’s hold-

ings in Bioindo increased to 29%. In addition, Dovre Group’s 

holdings in Biomass were converted to holdings in Bioindo.

Bioindo’s production plant was relocated to Surabaya in 

the second half of the year. Dovre Group’s share of the write-

offs recognized for raw materials and factory buildings in con-

nection with the relocation totaled approx. EUR 0.8 million in 

the second half of the year. The write-offs in question as well 

as the old factory’s financial losses are, in accordance with 

Indonesian tax legislation, tax deductible in the new factory’s 

income statement.

Production was started in the new location in the end of 

October. The quality of the raw material is good, and there 

have been no indications during the start-up of any major is-

sues that would negatively affect the production in the longer 

term.

In Q4, Bioindo signed an off-take agreement with CellMark 

Energy. Specialized in renewable energy production and logis-

tics, CellMark Energy is part of Swedish CellMark AB. According 

to the agreement, Cellmark Energy will purchase a majority 

portion of the wood pellets produced by Bioindo. The end us-

ers of the pellets are in South Korea and Japan. The value of 

the agreement is minimum USD 1.5 million.

Dovre Group’s investment in Bioindo is not part of the 

Group’s core business.

Personnel

In 2015, the average number of personnel employed by the 

Group was 649 (481), including NPC’s personnel as of May 28, 

2015. Project Personnel employed 599 (428) and Consulting 

45 (48) people. 

On December 31, 2015, Dovre Group employed 714 (486) 

people, 670 (431) of which were employed by Project Per-

sonnel, 39 (49) by Consulting, and 5 (6) by Other functions. 

Group Executive Team

Following the completion of the merger between Dovre Group 

and NPC, the Board of Directors of Dovre Group appointed a 

new Group Executive Team on May 28, 2015. As of May 28, 

2015, the Group Executive Team consists of Patrick von Es-

sen (CEO), Heidi Karlsson (CFO), Stein Berntsen (President, 

Business Area Consulting), Arve Jensen (President, Business 

NPC’s share of the total number of personnel at the end of 

the period was 349 people. NPC’s personnel is included in 

the Group’s Project Personnel business area. In the Project 

Personnel business area, 28 (41) % of employees were inde-

pendent contractors.

In 2015, the Group’s personnel expenses were EUR 103.5 

(87.1) million.

Area Norway), Ole Olsen (President, Business Area Asia Pa-

cific), and Frank Ween (President, Business Area Americas & 

EMEA). As a result of the merger, and through their respective 

controlled companies, Olsen and Ween are also the Group’s 

largest individual shareholders.

Research and development

The Group’s research and development costs were EUR 0.1 (0.1) million, which is 0.1 (0.1) % of the Group’s net sales.

Board of Directors 

Dovre Group Plc’s Annual General Meeting, held on March 25, 

2015, decided that the number of Board members be set at 

four (4) and re-elected all four members to continue on the 

Board of Directors. The members of the  Board are: Rainer 

Häggblom, Ilari Koskelo, Arja Koski, and Tero Viherto. In its first 

meeting after the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Direc-

tors re-elected Rainer Häggblom as the Board’s Chairman.

The Annual General Meeting resolved that the chairman 

of the Board is paid EUR 35,000, the vice chairman of the 

Board EUR 25,000, and each other member of the Board EUR 

22,000 per year. In addition, reasonable travel expenses are 

also compensated. Out of the annual compensation, 40% of 

the total gross compensation will be used to purchase Dovre 

Group Plc’s shares on regulated market in trading through 

Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd, or alternatively by using the own shares 

held by the company. The shares will be purchased and/or 

granted as soon as possible after the Annual General Meeting. 

The total amount of the annual compensation paid to Board 

members or the method of payment did not change from the 

previous year.
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Shares, shareholders, and stock options

Share capital and trading

On December 31, 2015, Dovre Group’s share capital was EUR 

9,603,084.48 and the total number of shares 99,868,769. The 

Group’s share capital did not change during the financial year. 

Increase in the number of shares during the financial year, 

36,453,018 in total, was due to the issuance of new shares 

as direct issue in connection with the merger with NPC, com-

pleted on May 28, 2015, to the Norwegian companies Com-

muter AS and Global Group AS, the sellers of NPC. The new 

shares have been entered in the Finnish trade register on 

June 4, 2015. The increase has been recorded in the com-

pany’s reserve for non-restricted equity and the fair value 

reserve. The new shares issued as part of the transaction 

(Consideration Shares) were not subject to public trading at 

the end of the financial year. The Consideration Shares will be 

listed during Q1/2016. Dovre Group will publish a prospectus 

required for listing the Consideration Shares in connection 

with their listing.

In January – December 2015, approximately 17.6 (19.2) 

million Dovre Group shares were exchanged on the Nasdaq 

Helsinki Ltd., corresponding to a trade of approximately EUR 

8.2 (10.1) million. The lowest quotation was EUR 0.33 (0.33) 

and the highest EUR 0.57 (0.69). On December 31, 2015, the 

closing quotation was EUR 0.34 (0.36). The period-end market 

capitalization was approx. EUR 34.0 (22.8) million.

Shareholders

On December 31, 2015, the number of registered sharehold-

ers of Dovre Group Plc totaled 3,559 (3,515), including 8 (9) 

nominee-registers. The number of private households holding 

shares totaled 3,355 (3,308), corresponding to approx. 35.8 

(53.6) % of all shares in the company. Private companies held 

approx. 23.4 (36.4) % of all shares. Approx. 37.7 (2.1) % of all 

shares were in foreign ownership. Of the Group’s shares, 0.2 

(0.9) % were nominee-registered at the end of the financial 

year.

Flaggings

On May 28, 2015, Dovre Group received notifications from 

Commuter AS, Global Group AS, Erkki Etola and Etra Capital 

Oy, an entity controlled by Erkki Etola, as well as Ilari Koskelo 

and Navdata Oy, an entity controlled by Ilari Koskelo, pursuant 

to Chapter 9 Section 5 of the Finnish Securities Markets Act. 

The notifications were due to the completion of the merger 

between Dovre Group and NPC on May 28, 2015. As a result 

of the transaction, the total number of shares in Dovre Group 

increased from 63,415,751 to 99,868,769 and resulted in the 

following changes in holdings:

•	 The	total	ownership	of	Commuter	AS	to	shares	and	voting	

rights in Dovre Group exceeds 15% as its ownership of all 

shares and voting rights has increased to 18.25% of all 

shares and voting rights in Dovre Group, or 18,226,509 

shares in total. Commuter AS held no shares or voting 

rights in Dovre Group prior to the transaction. Commuter 

AS is controlled by Frank Ween, who is a member of Dovre 

Group’s executive team. 

•	 The	total	ownership	of	Global	Group	AS	to	shares	and	

voting rights in Dovre Group exceeds 15% as its ownership 

of all shares and voting rights has increased to 18.25% of 

all shares and voting rights in Dovre Group, or 18,226,509 

shares in total. Global Group AS held no shares or voting 

rights in Dovre Group prior to the transaction. Global Group 

AS is controlled by Ole Johan Olsen, who is a member of 

Dovre Group’s executive team.

•	 The	total	combined	ownership	of	Erkki	Etola	and	Etra	

Capital Oy of the shares and voting rights in Dovre Group 

falls below 20% as the new shares issued to the sellers’ 

of NPC dilute the proportion of all shares in Dovre Group 

currently held by Erkki Etola and Etra Capital. The total 

combined ownership of Erkki Etola and Etra Capital of all 

shares and voting rights in Dovre Group has decreased 

from 26.6% to 16.9%. The transaction has no effect on 

the total number of shares held by Erkki Etola and Etra 

Capital.

•	 The	total	combined	ownership	of	Ilari	Koskelo	and	Navdata	

Oy of the shares and voting rights in Dovre Group falls 

below 5% as the new shares issued to the sellers’ of NPC 

dilute the proportion of all shares in Dovre Group currently 

held by Ilari Koskelo and Navdata. The total combined 

ownership of Ilari Koskelo and Navdata of all shares and 

voting rights in Dovre Group has decreased from 6.9% to 

4.4%. The transaction has no effect on the total number 

of shares held by Ilari Koskelo and Navdata.

Stock options

Dovre Group has two option plans, 2010 and 2013. Each stock 

option entitles the holder to subscribe one share in Dovre 

Group Plc.

The share subscription period and price per series under 

the 2010 option plan are as follows: 

•	 2010B:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.36;	subscription	period	

March 1, 2013–February 28, 2016. 

•	 2010C:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.27;	subscription	period	

March 1, 2014–February 28, 2017.

The subscription period of the company’s 2010A option series 

ended on February 28, 2015. A total of 315,000 shares were 

subscribed for under the series, a total of 120,000 of which 

were subscribed for in 2015. The increase in the company’s 

number of shares was entered in the Finnish trade register on 

March 2, 2015. The remaining 240,000 stock options expired 

as unused.
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A total of 30,000 shares were subscribed for under Dovre 

Group Plc’s 2010C option series in 2015. The increase in the 

company’s number of shares was entered in the Finnish trade 

register on March 2, 2015.

At the end of the financial year, a total of 965,000 stock 

options were outstanding under the 2010 option plan.

The share subscription period and price per series under 

the 2013 option plan are as follows:

•	 2013A:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.39;	subscription	period	

March 1, 2015–February 29, 2018. 

•	 2013B:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.52;	subscription	period	

March 1, 2016–February 28, 2019.

•	 2013C:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.45;	subscription	period	

March 1, 2017–February 28, 2020.

During the financial year, a total of 525,000 stock options un-

der the 2013A series, a total of 25,000 stock options under the 

2013B series, and a total of 1,000,000 stock options under the 

2013C series were granted to key personnel. A total of 100,000 

stock options under the 2013A series, a total of 150,000 stock 

options under the 2013B series, and a total of 50,000 stock 

options under the 2013C series were returned to the company.

At the end of the financial year, the company had granted 

a total of 2,685,000 stock options under the 2013 option plan 

and had in reserve a total of 315,000 stock options.

Holdings of the Board of Directors and executive management

proximately 4.3% of all shares and votes. Taking into account 

ownership through controlled companies, the members of the 

Board of Directors held a total of 5,060,758 (4,771,414) shares, 

representing approximately 5.1 (7.5) % of all shares and votes.

On December 31, 2015, the Group’s CEO Patrick von Essen 

held a total of 675,000 stock options granted under the 2013A, 

2013B, and 2013C option series.

Dovre Group Plc’s Annual General Meeting held on March 25, 

2015, adopted the financial statements and consolidated fi-

nancial statements for 2014 and discharged the members of 

the Board of Directors and the CEOs from liability for the fi-

nancial year ending on December 31, 2014. In accordance with 

the Board’s proposal, the Annual General Meeting decided that 

a dividend of EUR 0.02 per share to be paid for the financial 

year 2014. The dividend was paid on April 8, 2015. The Annual 

General Meeting adopted the Board’s proposals to authorize the 

Board of Directors to decide on the repurchase of the company’s 

own shares and on the issuance of shares and special rights. In 

addition, the Annual General Meeting approved the purchase of 

the full share capital of Norwegian Petroleum Consulting Group 

AS and authorized the Board of Directors to decide on the direct 

issuance of shares, the acceptance as pledge of the shares 

issued in direct issuance, and the payment of extra dividend 

related therewith on the following conditions. The Annual Gen-

eral Meeting re-elected the Authorized Public Accountant entity 

Ernst & Young Ltd as the Company’s auditor, with APA Mikko 

Järventausta continuing as the Company’s principal auditor.

The Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of Di-

rectors to decide on the repurchase of the Company’s own 

shares on the following conditions: the Board is entitled to 

decide on repurchase of a maximum of 6,200,000 of the 

Company’s own shares, which shall be repurchased in devia-

tion from the proportion to the holdings of the shareholders 

using the non-restricted equity and acquired through trading 

at the regulated market organized by NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 

Ltd at the share price prevailing at the time of acquisition. This 

number of shares corresponds to approximately a maximum 

of 9.8% of the total number of shares in the Company. The 

shares may be repurchased in order to be used as considera-

tion in possible acquisitions or other arrangements related 

to the Company’s business, to finance investments or as part 

of the Company’s incentive program or to be held, otherwise 

conveyed or cancelled by the Company. The Board of Direc-

tors shall decide on other matters related to the repurchase 

of the Company's own shares. This repurchase authorization 

is valid until June 30, 2016 and revokes earlier repurchase 

authorizations.

The Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of Di-

rectors to decide on the issuance of new shares and/or the 

conveyance of own shares held by the Company and/or the 

granting of special rights referred to in Chapter 10, Section 

1 of the Finnish Companies Act on the following conditions:

By virtue of the authorization, the Board may also decide 

on a directed issue of shares and special rights, i.e. waiving 

the pre-emptive subscription rights of the shareholders, under 

the requirements of the law. By virtue of the authorization, a 

maximum of 12,400,000 shares may be issued, correspond-

ing to approximately 19.6% of the Company’s existing shares.

Decisions of the Annual General Meeting and the authorizations of the Board of Directors

On December 31, 2015, members of the Group’s Board of Direc-

tors and the CEO held, including holdings through controlled 

companies and family members living in the same household, 

a total of 5,190,758 (4,871,414) shares in the company, repre-

senting 5.2 (7.7) % of all shares.

On December 31, 2015, the members of the Board of Di-

rectors held a total of 3,395,968 shares, representing ap-
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The Board may use the authorization in one or more in-

stalments. The Board may use the authorization to finance or 

conclude acquisitions or other arrangements, to strengthen 

the Company’s capital structure, to incentive programs or 

other purposes decided by the Board. The new shares may be 

issued or the Company’s own shares conveyed either against 

payment or free of charge. The new shares may also be issued 

as an issue without payment to the Company itself. The Board 

was authorized to decide on other terms of the issuance of 

shares and special rights. By virtue of the authorization, the 

Board of Directors may decide on the realization of the Com-

pany’s own shares possibly held by the Company as pledge.

The authorization is valid until June 30, 2016. The au-

thorization revokes earlier authorizations to issue shares and 

grant option rights and other special rights entitling to shares.

The Annual General Meeting approved the purchase of the 

full share capital of Norwegian Petroleum Consulting Group AS 

and authorized the Board of Directors to decide on the direct 

issuance of shares, the acceptance as pledge of the shares 

issued in direct issuance, and the payment of extra dividend 

related therewith on the following conditions:

In addition to the aforementioned authorization regard-

ing the issuance of shares and option rights as well as other 

special rights entitling to shares, the Annual General Meeting 

authorized the Board of Directors to decide on the directed 

share issue of a maximum of 36,453,018 new shares in con-

nection with the transaction mentioned above in deviation 

from the pre-emptive subscription rights of the shareholders. 

There is a weighty financial reason for the Company to issue 

shares as direct issue. The new shares issued by virtue of 

this authorization do not entitle to any dividend distributed 

from the financial year 2014 or previous financial years. The 

share issue authorization is valid until June 30, 2016. The 

authorization does not revoke the aforementioned issuance 

authorization.

The Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of Di-

rectors to decide on the acceptance as pledge of the shares 

issued in direct issue in connection with the transaction and 

to be used as pledge against the fulfilment of the terms of the 

contract of the transaction. The amount to be accepted as 

pledge based on this authorization shall not exceed 6,000,000 

shares in total, representing approximately 9.5% of the shares 

in the Company. The Board of Directors shall decide on oth-

er terms and conditions of the acceptance as pledge of the 

shares. The pledge authorization is valid until June 30, 2016.

In addition, the Annual General Meeting authorized the 

Board of Directors to decide on the distribution of extra divi-

dend of EUR 0.06 per share as part of the aforementioned 

transaction. The new shares issued in relation to the afore-

mentioned transaction do not entitle to extra dividend pos-

sibly decided by the Board by virtue of this authorization. 

The authorization to distribute extra dividend is valid until 

the beginning of the next Annual General Meeting and until 

June 30, 2016, at the latest. The Board of Directors used the 

authorization during the financial year. The extra dividend was 

paid on September 30, 2015.

Acceptance of the acquisition required that all proposals 

concerning the acquisition were accepted.

Corporate governance statement

Dovre Group follows the recommendations of the Corporate 

Governance Code issued by the Finnish Securities Market As-

sociation. The Corporate Governance Statement 2015 has 

been issued separately from the Report of the Board of Di-

rectors. Dovre Group’s corporate governance principles are 

available on the company’s website at www.dovregroup.com 

-> investors.

Short-term risks and uncertainties

In the Project Personnel business area. the Group’s most sig-

nificant risks include cost cuttings by and reduced investment 

budgets for oil and gas clients. Our operations in Russia have 

not been directly impacted by trade sanctions. However, there 

is a risk that if sanctions escalate our operations may be af-

fected. As a result of the merger with NPC, completed on May 

28, 2015, Project Personnel’s market share in the Norwegian 

market has increased and market developments in Norway 

are increasingly important for the business area. In addition, 

expansion to new client segments requires expenditure and 

includes risks. The business area’s other challenges are main-

taining its competitiveness and profitability. Project Personnel 

business is project-based by nature, thus adding an element 

of uncertainty to forecasting. Dovre Group is responsible for 

the work performed by its consultants. However, the company 

has no overall responsibility for project delivery.

In the Consulting business area, general economic uncer-

tainty does not affect as directly the demand for the Group’s 

services. This is mainly due to the fact that one of our main 

clients, the Norwegian public sector, aims to invest counter-

cyclically. Project delivery involves minor risks due to both 

clients and the Group’s own personnel such as project delays 

or loss of key personnel.
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Dovre Group holds a minority share in a pellet produc-

tion company SaraRasa Bioindo Pte. Ltd (Bioindo). Bioindo’s 

production unit is located in Indonesia and is thus exposed to 

high country risk. Other significant risks include risks relat-

ing to commercial agreements, including feedstock purchase 

and end-product sale agreements. The relocation of the pel-

let production line within Indonesia from Selat to Surabaya 

has lowered risk in the long term due to improved quality of 

the feedstock, lower production costs, and better logistics. 

Bioindo’s financial information involves certain uncertainties, 

because the company’s financials for 2015 are unaudited and 

the audit for 2014 is still ongoing.

The Group’s reporting currency is euro. The Group’s most 

important functional currencies are the Norwegian crown, 

the Canadian dollar, the Singaporean dollar, and the United 

States dollar. Although the Group’s sales and corresponding 

expenses are mainly in the same currency, currency fluctua-

tions can affect the Group’s net sales and operating result. 

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities can also 

result in foreign exchange gains or losses. The Group is hedg-

ing its currency positions when appropriate.

Future outlook and guidance for 2016

The market is still affected by several uncertainties, including 

general economic trends, oil price, and political instability. Our 

main markets are, however, in politically and economically 

stable countries.

We expect demand in the oil and gas industry to decline 

further in 2016, although not as steeply as in 2015. We expect 

orders from power generation, power transmission and pro-

cess industry projects to increase. However, increased demand 

in new segments is not yet enough to compensate for the 

continuing fall in demand in the oil and gas industry.

In the Consulting business area, market outlook is more 

positive due to strong order stock both in Norway and Finland.

Guidance for 2016: Net sales are expected to exceed EUR 

100 million and operating result is expected to be positive.

Board of Directors’ proposal for dividend

The parent company’s distributable funds are EUR 

24,866,138.98. The Board of Directors proposes to the An-

nual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.01 per share 

to be paid, corresponding to EUR 998,687.69 based on the 

total number of shares, 99,868,769. 

The Board of Directors further proposes that the dividend 

is paid to a shareholder who on the record date March 21, 2016 

is registered as a shareholder in the company's shareholder 

register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. The dividend is 

paid on March 30, 2016.

No significant changes have occurred in the company’s 

financial position after the end of the financial year. The 

company’s liquidity is good, and the proposed distribution of 

dividend poses no risk to the company’s financial standing.

Espoo, February 17, 2016

Dovre Group PLC

Board of Directors
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2. Group Financial Statements According to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, IFRS

euR ThouSanD noTe Jan. 1–DeC. 31, 2015 Jan. 1–DeC. 31, 2014

neT SaleS  3, 5 115,947 98,889

Other operating income 6 47 105

Material and services 7 -161 -406

Employee benefits expense 8 -103,546 -87,053

Depreciation and amortization 9 -538 -377

Other operating expenses 10 -12,608 -9,941

Impairment loss on revaluation of non-current assets held for sale  0 -43

oPeRaTing ReSulT  -858 1,173

Financing income 11 768 483

Financing expenses 11 -456 -216

Share of results in joint ventures 17 -1,295 -555

ReSulT BeFoRe TaX  -1,841 885

Tax on income from operations 12 -171 -617

ReSulT FoR The PeRioD  -2,012 268

other comprehensive income:

Items which may be subsequently reclassified to profit and loss:

Translation differences  -1,808  16 

ToTal ComPRehenSiVe inCome FoR The PeRioD  -3,820  284 

Earnings per share calculated from profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company:

earnings per share, undiluted (euR), result for the period 13 -0.02 0.00

earnings per share, diluted (euR), result for the period 13 -0.02 0.00

Average number of shares:

 Undiluted 13 84,655,012 63,019,918

 Diluted 13 84,979,307 63,458,950
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, IFRS

euR ThouSanD noTe DeC. 31, 2015 DeC. 31, 2014

aSSeTS

non-CuRRenT aSSeTS

Intangible assets 14 3,882 689

Goodwill 15 15,588 6,645

Tangible assets 16 997 138

Investments in joint ventures 17 1,029 521

Trade receivables and other receivables 18 41 931

Deferred tax asset 19 308 307

non-CuRRenT aSSeTS  21,845 9,231

CuRRenT aSSeTS

Trade receivables and other receivables 20 19,256 14,879

Tax receivable, income tax  37 202

Cash and cash equivalents 21 10,902 10,343

CuRRenT aSSeTS  30,195 25,424

Assets held for sale 16  890

ToTal aSSeTS  52,040 35,545

eQuiTY anD liaBiliTieS

ShaReholDeRS’ eQuiTY

Share capital 22 9,603 9,603

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 22 12,219 463

Fair value reserve 22 2,869 0

Translation differences  -2,701 -891

Retained earnings   5,339 12,285

ShaReholDeRS’ eQuiTY  27,329 21,459

non-CuRRenT liaBiliTieS

Deferred tax liability 19 1,012 568

Other non-current liabilities 24 2,291 37

Non-current provisions 27 292 0

non-CuRRenT liaBiliTieS  3,595 605

CuRRenT liaBiliTieS

Short-term liabilities, interest-bearing 25 3,432 1,289

Trade payables and other liabilities 26 17,023 11,931

Tax liability, income tax  235 232

Current provisions 27 425 30

CuRRenT liaBiliTieS  21,116 13,481

ToTal eQuiTY anD liaBiliTieS  52,040 35,545
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, IFRS

euR ThouSanD noTe 2015 2014

Cash flow from operating activities

 Operating result, continuing operations  -858 1 173

 Adjustments:

  Depreciation/amortization 9 538 420

  Loss on disposal of investment 10, 15 381 6

  Personnel expenses 8 140 127

  Restructuring provision 27 745 0

 adjustments, total  1,804 553

 Changes in working capital:

  Trade and other receivables, increase (–) / decrease (+)  5,217 1,763

  Trade and other payables, increase (+) / decrease (–)  -3,763 -533

 Changes in working capital, total  1,454 1,230

 Interest paid  -79 -20

 Interest received  54 55

 Other financial expenses paid and received  148 -5

 Income taxes paid  -521 -1,132

net cash generated by operating activities  2,002 1,854

Cash flow from investing activities

 Acquisition of subsidiaries less cash and cash equivalents  554 0

 Investments in tangible and intangible assets  -23 -313

 Proceeds from sale of tangible assets  12 0

 Purchase of shares in joint ventures  -371 -27

 Increase (–) / decrease (+) in loans receivable  -324 -807

net cash generated by investing activities  -152 -1,147

Cash flow from financing activities

 Stock options exercised  44 111

 Proceeds from non-current loans  3,000 0

 Repayments of non-current loans  -150 0

 Proceeds from short-term loans  2,264 113

 Repayments of short-term loans  -867 -7

 Dividends paid  -5,073 -4,409

net cash generated by financing activities  -782 -4,192

Translation differences  -509 91

Change in cash and cash equivalents  559 -3,394

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  10,343 13,737

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 21 10,902 10,343
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, IFRS

  ReSeRVe FoR
  inVeSTeD non-    
  ReSTRiCTeD ReValuaTion TRanSlaTion ReTaineD ToTal 
euR ThouSanD ShaRe CaPiTal eQuiTY ReSeRVe DiFFeRenCeS eaRningS eQuiTY

ShaReholDeRS’ eQuiTY      

Jan. 1, 2014 9,603 352 21 -907 16,297 25,366

Comprehensive income

  Result for the period     268 268

 Other comprehensive income

 Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss in subsequent periods:

  Translation differences    16 0 15

  Transfers between items   -21  21 0

Total comprehensive income 0 0 -21 16 289 284

Transactions with shareholders

 Share based compensation     108 108

 Stock options exercised  111    111

 Dividend distribution     -4,409 -4,409

Total transactions with shareholders 0 111 0 0 -4,301 -4,191

ShaReholDeRS’ eQuiTY      

Dec. 31, 2014 9,603 463 0 -891 12,285 21,459

  ReSeRVe FoR
  inVeSTeD non-    
  ReSTRiCTeD FaiR Value TRanSlaTion ReTaineD ToTal 
euR ThouSanD ShaRe CaPiTal eQuiTY ReSeRVe DiFFeRenCeS eaRningS eQuiTY

ShaReholDeRS’ eQuiTY      

Jan. 1, 2015 9,603 463 0 -891 12,285 21,460

 Comprehensive income

 Result for the period     -2,012 -2,012

 Other comprehensive income

 Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss in subsequent periods:

  Translation differences    -1,809 1 -1,808

Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 -1,809 -2,011 -3,820

Transactions with shareholders

 Merger with NPC  11,712 2,869   14,581

 Share based compensation     138 138

 Stock options exercised  44    44

 Dividend distribution     -5,073 -5,073

Total transactions with shareholders 0  11,756 2,869  0  -4,935  9,690

ShaReholDeRS’ eQuiTY       

Dec. 31, 2015 9,603 12,219 2,869 -2,701 5,339 27,329

equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent

equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, IFRS

1. geneRal inFoRmaTion  
Dovre Group is a global provider of project personnel and project 

management services. The Group’s parent company, Dovre Group 

Plc, is a public limited company incorporated under Finnish law and 

domiciled in Helsinki, Finland. The company’s registered address is 

Maapallonkuja 1 B, 02210 Espoo, Finland. Dovre Group Plc’s shares 

are listed on Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd (symbol DOV1V). 

Dovre Group’s Board of Directors has approved these financial 

statements for publication in its meeting on February 17, 2016. In 

accordance with the Finnish Companies Act, the shareholders of the 

company have the option to approve, reject, or amend the financial 

statements in the Annual General Meeting to be held following their 

publication. A copy of the consolidated financial statements of Dovre 

Group is available online at www.dovregroup.com or at the company’s 

offices at Maapallonkuja 1 B, 02210 Espoo, Finland. 

2. aCCounTing PRinCiPleS

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accord-

ance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In 

preparing the financial statements, the IAS and IFRS standards and 

SIC and IFRIC interpretations effective on December 31, 2015 have 

been followed. In accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and the 

regulations issued by virtue of it, ‘IFRS’ refers to the standards and 

interpretations, which have been endorsed by the EU in accordance 

with the procedure defined in the EU Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002. 

The notes to the consolidated financial statements also comply with 

the provisions of Finnish accounting and corporate legislation that 

supplement IFRS provisions. 

As of January 1, 2015, the Group has adopted the following annual 

improvements: 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle. The amendments 

had no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 

the historical cost convention unless otherwise stated. Monetary 

figures in the financial statements are expressed in thousands of 

euros (EUR thousand) unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordan-

ce with IFRS requires management to make certain estimates and 

exercise judgment when applying accounting principles. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgment or areas where assumptions 

and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements 

are disclosed under ‘Critical accounting estimates and judgments’.

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company, 

Dovre Group Plc, and all its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are companies 

in which the Group holds control either directly or indirectly. Control 

arises when the Group either controls more than half of the voting 

rights or otherwise holds control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 

in the Group’s financial statements from the date on which control 

has been transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 

date that control ceases. 

Mutual shareholdings are eliminated using the acquisition method. 

The acquisition consideration and the acquired company’s identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at fair value on 

the date of acquisition.

All intra-Group transactions, receivables, liabilities, unrealized 

gains, and the distribution of profits within the Group are eliminated 

in the consolidated financial statements.

The allocation of the result for the period between the sharehol-

ders of the parent company and non-controlling interest is disclosed 

in the income statement. The share of equity of non-controlling inte-

rest is presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial 

position. The share of non-controlling interest is not disclosed in the 

statement of financial position, if the parent company or its subsidiary 

has a call option or other agreement, which gives the Group present 

access to financial benefits associated with the ownership.

For business combinations achieved in stages, previous sharehol-

dings are re-measured to fair value and any gains or losses arising are 

recognized in profit and loss. When the Group ceases to have control 

in a subsidiary, the remaining investment is measured to its fair value 

on the date when control is lost, with the change recognized in profit 

and loss. Acquisitions that took place prior to January 1, 2010 have 

been treated in accordance with standards applicable at the time. 

Associates and joint ventures

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influ-

ence. Significant influence arises when the Group controls more than 

20% of the entity’s voting rights or when the Group otherwise has 

significant influence but no control. Joint ventures are entities where 

material decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous 

consent of the parties sharing control. Associates and joint ventures 

are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the 

equity method of accounting. Investments in associates or joint ven-

tures include goodwill arising from the acquisition.

The Group’s share of results in associates and joint ventures is 

presented as a separate line item below the Group’s operating result 

in the consolidated statement of income, because the operations of 

the Group’s associates and joint ventures are not continuous to the 

Group’s operations. The Group’s share of changes in the associates’ 

and joint ventures’ other comprehensive income is recognized in the 

Group’s other comprehensive income. 

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements are initially recognized in 

the functional currencies of each Group company. Consolidated finan-

cial statements are presented in euros, which is the parent company’s 

functional and presentation currency. 

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the functional cur-

rency at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of transaction. 
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In practice, transactions are often translated at the rate of exchange 

that approximates the exchange rate on the transaction date. Mon-

etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies held 

at the end of the reporting period are translated using the period 

end exchange rate. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from business tran-

sactions and from the translation of monetary items at period end 

exchange rates are recognized in the income statement and recorded 

in financial income and expenses. In accordance with IAS 21.15, the 

Group recognizes exchange rate differences arising from receivables 

classified as part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary 

in other comprehensive income.

Translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries

The statements of income of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries are 

translated into euros at the weighted average rate of exchange for 

the financial period and the items in the statement of financial posi-

tion at the rate of exchange on the balance sheet date. The use of 

different exchange rates for items in the income statement and items 

on the statement of financial position results in a translation differ-

ence, which is recorded in the Group’s other comprehensive income. 

Translation differences arising from the elimination of the acquisition 

cost of foreign subsidiaries and from equity items accumulated after 

the acquisition are also recorded in other comprehensive income. 

As of the IFRS effective date of January 1, 2004, the translation 

differences in equity resulting from exchange rate fluctuations have 

been entered as a separate item in translation differences in the con-

solidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity. Translation 

differences accumulated prior to the effective date have been entered 

in the Group’s retained earnings as allowed by the exemption in IFRS 1.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depre-

ciation and impairment losses.

Tangible assets include machinery and equipment. Depreciation is 

calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected economic useful 

lives of the assets, which is 3–5 years.

Gains and losses on disposal of tangible assets are recognized in 

either other operating income or other operating expenses.

intangible assets

Goodwill  

For business combinations after January 1, 2010, goodwill represents 

the excess of the consideration transferred, non-controlling interest 

in the acquiree, and previously held interest in the acquiree over the 

Group’s interest in the fair values of the acquired net assets. Acquisi-

tions of companies between January 1, 2004, and December 31, 2009, 

are accounted for in accordance with previous IFRS standards (IFRS 

3 (2004)). For acquisitions prior to 2004, goodwill represents the 

carrying amount determined in accordance with previous accounting 

standards and which is used as the deemed cost as defined by IFRS.

Goodwill is not amortized, but it is tested annually for possible 

impairment. For impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to groups of 

cash generating units. Goodwill is stated at the historical acquisition 

cost less any impairment. Goodwill arising in connection with the 

acquisition of foreign subsidiaries has been translated into euros at 

the rate of exchange on the balance sheet date.

Research and development costs

Research and development is expensed as incurred. Development 

costs that are directly attributable to new products and product ver-

sions with significant improvements are recognized as intangible 

assets after the product is technically and commercially feasible 

and future economic gain can be expected. Capitalized development 

costs include those development, testing, and material costs that are 

the immediate consequence of finalizing the product for its intended 

use. The useful life of capitalized development costs is 2-4 years, 

during which the capitalized costs are recognized as an expense us-

ing the straight-line method. Amortization begins on the release of 

the product version. In-process development projects are tested for 

impairment at the end of the financial period. 

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include customer contracts and customer 

relations, trademarks, software, and other capitalized expenditure. 

Intangible assets are recognized in the statement of financial position 

when the criteria specified in IAS 38 are met. 

Intangible assets with limited useful economic lives are initially 

recognized at historical acquisition cost in the statement of financial 

position and entered as an expense in the income statement during 

their estimated useful economic lives using the straight-line method. 

No amortization is recognized for intangible assets with indefinite 

useful economic lives, but they are tested annually for impairment.

The Group’s share of the Norwegian Dovre Group AS rose to 100% 

after the Group acquired the remaining 60% of the company’s shares 

in 2004. A part of the acquisition cost was allocated to customer ag-

reements and relations in accordance with the definition of intangible 

assets in IAS 38. The Group had acquired 40% of the company prior to 

the effective date of IFRS standards, January 1, 2004. In accordance 

with the exemption allowed by IFRS 1, the Group did not apply IFRS 3 

retrospectively to acquisitions that were made prior to the effective 

date of January 1, 2004. Since the Group had applied, as appropriate, 

the provisions included in IFRS 3 concerning the acquisition of compa-

nies in stages, the fair values of customer agreements and customer 

relations included in intangible assets and related to the previous 

40% ownership by the Group were adjusted in accordance with IFRS 

3 to correspond to the fair values of intangible assets on the date of 

acquisition of the remaining shares (60%). Adjustments to the fair 

values related to the previously acquired share (40%) were treated 

as revaluations in accordance with IFRS 3.

The useful economic life of customer agreements and customer 

relations is estimated at 10 years. The useful economic life of other 

intangible assets is estimated at 3-5 years.

leases

Lease agreements have been classified as finance leases and other 

leases in accordance with IAS 17. Lease agreements where the les-

see bears a substantial part of the risks and benefits of ownership 

are classified as finance leases. Lease agreements where the lessor 

retains a significant part of the risks and benefits of ownership are 

classified as operating leases. 

The Group has no finance leases. The Group’s operating leases 

include offices, cars and office equipment. Payments made under 

operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-

line basis over the period of the lease. 
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impairment of assets

Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful economic lives, and 

intangible assets not ready to use are annually tested for impairment. 

In addition, assets and cash-generating units are regularly tested 

for indications of possible impairment. Should any such indications 

arise, the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is 

estimated. An impairment loss is recognized in the income statement, 

if the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount.

employee benefits

Employee benefits expense

In addition to normal employee benefits expenses, the Group’s 

employee benefits expense includes also expenses related to inde-

pendent contractors in the Project Personnel business area. The 

Group acts as a principal towards its clients and, depending on the 

situation, the project personnel contracted to the client are either 

employees of the Group or independent contractors. 

Pension liabilities

The Group operates various pension plans in accordance with local 

regulations and practices. In accordance with IAS 19, pension plans 

are classified as either defined contribution or defined benefit plans. 

The Group’s current pension plans are defined contribution plans. 

Contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the state-

ment of income in the period to which these contributions relate. The 

defined benefit plan that was previously in use in the Group’s Norwe-

gian subsidiary was changed to a defined contribution plan in 2011. 

Share-based compensation 

Dovre Group operates share-based incentive plans for its key employ-

ees. The fair value of the option rights is determined on the grant date 

and recognized as an expense over the vesting period on a straight-

line basis. The fair value of the options granted is determined using 

the Black & Scholes pricing model. When options are exercised, the 

proceeds received for share subscriptions, less any potential transac-

tion costs, are recognized in the reserve for invested non-restricted 

equity in accordance with the terms of the option plan in question.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has, as a result of past 

events, a present legal or constructive obligation, it is probable that 

an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and 

the amount can be reliably estimated.

income taxes and deferred taxes

The tax expense presented in the income statement comprises cur-

rent taxes based on taxable result for the financial year and deferred 

taxes. Current income taxes are calculated from taxable result on the 

basis of current tax legislation in the countries where the Group oper-

ates and generates taxable income. Deferred taxes are determined 

using tax rates effective on the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differences arising 

between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax 

bases. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized in full in the balance 

sheet, and deferred tax assets only to the extent that it is probable 

that future taxable profit will be available against which the tempo-

rary differences can be utilized. Deferred tax is not recognized for 

temporary differences that arise from goodwill that is not deductible 

for tax purposes or for the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries to 

the extent that the reversal of temporary differences is not probable 

in the foreseeable future. Most significant temporary differences arise 

from fair value measurements made in connection with acquisitions 

and from subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings. 

Revenue recognition

The Group’s sales consist of revenue from the sale of services and 

licenses, and maintenance. Revenue from sales is recognized in ac-

cordance with IAS 18. Revenue from services sold is recognized when 

the services have been rendered, including all related travel expenses 

invoiced to the client. Revenue from licenses sold is recognized upon 

granting of user rights when all the main risks and rewards of license 

ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from main-

tenance is allocated to the contract period.

other operating income

Other operating income includes proceeds from rental revenue, gains 

on disposal of fixed and financial assets, and public funding. Public 

funding is recognized when it is reasonably certain that the terms 

related to funding are met and that the funding will be received. 

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement, the Group classifies its financial assets into the fol-

lowing categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss; held-to-maturity investments; loans and receivables; and avail-

able-for-sale financial assets. The Group has no held-to-maturity 

investments and no available-for-sale financial assets.

Loans and receivables are recognized at amortized cost. They 

are presented in the balance sheet as either current or non-current 

assets, with the latter including assets with maturities greater than 

12 months. An impairment loss for doubtful receivables is incurred, 

if there is objective evidence that the receivable is unrecoverable in 

full. Allowances for trade receivables are recorded in a separate im-

pairment account. Impairment losses for loans and other receivables 

are recorded against their carrying value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bank and other liquid 

investments with maturities of three months or less.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group hedges foreign currency denominated receivables and 

liabilities with different currency forward and option contracts. De-

rivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date of contract 

in other receivables or payables on the balance sheet. Outstanding 

derivatives are subsequently remeasured at their fair value on each 

balance sheet date and the resulting gain or loss is immediately 

recognized in the income statement under financial items. In deter-

mining the fair value of a derivative, the appropriate quoted market 

price is used, if available. Alternatively, fair value is determined us-

ing commonly used valuation methods. Dovre Group does not apply 

hedge accounting.  



group Financial Statements, iFRS24

application of new and revised iFRS and interpretations

The Group applies new and revised standards and interpretations 

as of the effective date of each standard or interpretation or, when 

the effective date is other than the first day of the financial year, as 

of the first day of the financial year following the effective date of 

the standard.

As of January 1, 2016, the Group will adopt the following revised, 

and amended IFRS standards with the effective date of January 1, 

2016: IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (amended), IFRS 11 

Joint Arrangements (amended), IAS 38 Intangible Assets (amended), 

and Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle.

IASB has released three new standards – IFRS 9 Financial Instru-

ments, IFRS 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers, and IFRS 

16 Leases – which the Group will adopt as of their effective date of 

each standard: IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 as of the effective date of January 

1, 2018 (estimated) and IFRS 16 as of the effective date of January 1, 

2019 (estimated). IFRS 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers is 

not estimated to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements, because the majority of the Group’s sales are 

based on hourly or daily invoicing. The Group is currently evaluating 

the impact of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. IFRS 16 Leases is expected 

to have an impact on the Group.

Financial liabilities

In accordance with IAS 39, financial liabilities are initially recognized 

on the basis of the original consideration received, less transaction 

costs, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the ef-

fective interest rate method. The Group’s financial liabilities are 

non-current and current, and they can be interest-bearing or non-

interest-bearing. Interest expenses are recognized in the income 

statement as incurred. Financial liabilities are recognized as current 

unless the Group retains the right to reschedule the date of payment 

to a date that is later than at least 12 months after the end of the 

financial period.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the 

management to make estimates and assumptions concerning the 

future that may differ from actual results. Also, the management 

is required to use judgment when applying accounting principles. 

The estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge and 

understanding on the balance sheet date.

The Group’s estimates and assumptions relate to the valuation 

of assets, impairment of trade receivables, deferred tax assets, and 

provisions. The Group annually tests goodwill and intangible assets 

with indefinite useful economic lives for impairment and monitors 

indications of impairment in accordance with the accounting prin-

ciples presented above. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating 

units are determined using calculations based on value-in-use. The 

preparation of these calculations requires the use of estimates and 

assumptions. The Group recognizes an impairment loss on trade 

receivables if payment is delayed more than 360 days or on a case-

by-case basis, if there is objective evidence that the receivable is 

irrecoverable.
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Reporting segments

The Group has two reporting segments that are also the Group’s 

strategic business areas:

•	 Project	Personnel	business	area	provides	project	personnel	ser-

vices for large investment projects worldwide, primarily in the oil 

and gas industry.  

•	 Consulting	business	area	provides	management	and	project	man-

agement consulting for enterprise level management in the Nordic 

countries. 

The Group’s segment information is based on internal management 

reporting prepared in accordance with IFRS standards. The Group 

does not allocate the parent company’s intra-Group charges to seg-

ments for the purposes of segment reporting. Unallocated expenses 

3. oPeRaTing SegmenTS

2015 PRoJeCT  oTheR   
euR ThouSanD PeRSonnel ConSulTing FunCTionS eliminaTionS unalloCaTeD gRouP ToTal

inCome STaTemenT

net sales 108,813 7,134 0 0 0 115,947

eBiTDa excluding non-recurring items 2,194 870 -1,370 0 -151 1,543

Non-recurring items -964 -24 -495  -380 -1,863

operating result 969 827 -1,880 0 -774 -858

Financing income and expenses     313 313

Share of results in joint ventures   -1,295   -1,295

Income taxes     -171 -171

Result for the period 969 827 -3,175 0 -632 -2,012

BalanCe SheeT

Assets  36,945 1,681 1,138  11,247 51,011

Investments in joint ventures   1,029   1,029

assets total 36,945 1,681 2,167 0 11,247 52,040

Reporting segments

include amortization of customer agreements and relations, share-

based compensation recognized as expense in the income statement, 

financial items, and income taxes.              

The assets and liabilities of a segment are business items that a 

segment uses in its business or that can be allocated to a segment. 

Unallocated assets include tax assets and cash and cash equivalents.

Pricing between segments is based on fair market price.

Key customers

The Group has two major customers, each of which accounts for more 

than 10% of the Group’s net sales. In 2015, the Group’s income from 

these customers was approximately EUR 42 million (approx. EUR 

49 million in 2014) and is mainly included in the Project Personnel 

business area.
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Reporting segments

geographical division of net sales by location of assets non-current assets

euR ThouSanD 2015 2014

Finland  1,723 1,850

Norway  59,814 51,087

Canada  22,034 26,858

Singapore 12,668 0

Other  19,708 19,094

Total  115,947 98,889

euR ThouSanD 2015 2014

Finland  2,316 1,050

Norway  1,757 97

Singapore 512 0

Canada  55 101

Other  13 100

Trademark 1,368 0

Goodwill 15,588 6,645

Total  21,608 7,994

Non-current assets excluding financial instruments and deferred tax 

assets by location of assets. Goodwill and trademark have not been 

allocated geographically.

2014 PRoJeCT  oTheR    
euR ThouSanD PeRSonnel ConSulTing FunCTionS eliminaTionS unalloCaTeD gRouP ToTal

inCome STaTemenT

net sales 91,103 7,787 0 0  0 98,890

eBiTDa excluding non-recurring items 2,621 809 -1,222 0 -71 2,137

Non-recurring items -103 -40 -399   -542

operating result 2,461 763 -1,854 19 -215 1,173

Financing income and expenses     267 267

Share of results in joint ventures   -555   -555

Income taxes     -617 -617

Result for the period 2,461 763 -2,409 19 -565 268

BalanCe SheeT

Assets  18,742 2,495 1,845 -21 11,073 34,134

Investments in joint ventures   521   521

Assets held for sale     890 890

assets total 18,742 2,495 2,366 -21 11,963 35,545
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4. aCQuiSiTionS

Summary of acquisition items on may 28, 2015:

euR ThouSanD      FaiR Value

Cash consideration      410

Equity instruments (36,453,018 new shares in Dovre Group Plc)     14,581

Total       14,991

Intangible assets      4,078

Tangible assets      77

Trade and other receivables      10,983

Cash and cash equivalents      965

Deferred tax liabilities      -1,002

Interest-bearing liabilities      -256

Trade payables and other liabilities      -10,317

Total net assets acquired      4,528

Goodwill      10,463

Total       14,991

acquisitions in 2015

Norwegian Petroleum Consulting Group AS

On May 28, 2015, Dovre Group Plc acquired 100% of the shares in 

Norwegian Petroleum Consulting Group AS (NPC), a privately held 

company registered in Norway and providing staffing services to the 

oil and gas industry. In exchange, Dovre Group gave NPC’s owners a 

total of 36,453,018 new shares in Dovre Group and a cash component 

of EUR 410,300. A total of EUR 237,500 of the cash component was 

paid on May 28, 2015, and the remainder, EUR 172,800, on Septem-

ber 30, 2015. The acquired business has been consolidated into the 

Group’s Project Personnel business area as of May 28, 2015.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition, EUR 10.5 million in total, 

relates to the strengthening of Dovre Group’s market position globally 

and in particular in the Norwegian market as well as acquisition syner-

gies. Merger related costs savings are estimated to be around EUR 1 

million annually in value, and their full effect has been estimated from 

the beginning of 2016. None of the goodwill recognized is deductible 

for income tax purposes.

The fair value (EUR 14.6 million) of the new shares in Dovre Group 

Plc issued as part of the consideration paid for NPC (36,453,018 in 

total) was measured using the market price of Dovre Group’s ordinary 

shares on the acquisition date (EUR 0.46) less the extra dividend 

distributed as part of the transaction (EUR 0.06 per share).

acquisitions in 2014

The Group had no acquisitions in 2014.

Acquisition-related costs, EUR 445 thousand in total, which were 

due to external advisory and expert services, have been included 

in other operating expenses in the consolidated income statement.

As of the acquisition date, the consolidated statement of compre-

hensive income includes net sales of EUR 31.4 million and result for 

the period of EUR 492 thousand contributed by the acquired business. 

The result for the period includes restructuring costs allocated to NPC 

entities, EUR 453 thousand in total, including taxes.

Had the acquisition taken place on January 1, 2015, the conso-

lidated statement of comprehensive income would have included 

net sales of EUR 54.8 million and result for the period of EUR 346 

thousand. The result for the period includes restructuring costs al-

located to NPC entities.

The book values of the trade receivables and trade payables acqui-

red correspond to their fair values. The purchase price allocation on 

May 28, 2015 was preliminary because the acquisition was completed 

shortly before the end of Q2. The final allocation was done during 

the second half of the year. In the final allocation, the sum total of 

net assets acquired decreased by EUR 16 thousand, while the good-

will arising from the acquisition increased by EUR 16 thousand. The 

changes had no impact on the purchase price..
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5. neT SaleS

6. oTheR oPeRaTing inCome

7. maTeRial anD SeRViCeS

8. emPloYee BeneFiTS eXPenSe

DiSTRiBuTion oF neT SaleS BY ReVenue TYPe
euR ThouSanD   2015 % 2014 %

Services   115,397 99.5 % 98,184 99.3 %

License fees   207 0.2 % 379 0.4 %

Maintenance   342 0.3 % 325 0.3 %

Total    115,947 100.0 % 98,889 100.0 %

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Rents     30  76

Other operating income    17  29

Total     47  105

 

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

License fees    -95  -163

External services    -67  -243

Total     -161  -406

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Salaries and fees    -96,985  -81,057

Pension expenses, defined contribution plans    -1,255  -1,252

Share options granted to employees *)    -138  -114

Other employee benefits    -5,167  -4,630

Total     -103,546  -87,053

*) Notes information on share-based compensation is presented in note 23 Share-based Compensation.

Information on management renumeration and fringe benefits as well as compensation for key personnel is presented in note 33 
Related Party Transactions.

aVeRage numBeR oF PeRSonnel    2015  2014

Project Personnel    599  428

Consulting    45  48

Other functions    5  4

Total     649  481

    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Total personnel at the end of the financial year    714  486

In the Project Personnel business area, 28 (41) % of personnel were independent contractors.  
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9. DePReCiaTion anD amoRTiZaTion 

11. FinanCing inCome anD eXPenSeS

10. oTheR oPeRaTing eXPenSeS

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Amortization according to plan, intangible assets    -433  -304

Depreciation according to plan, tangible assets    -105  -73

Total     -538  -377

FinanCing inCome 
euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Gain on assets at fair value through profit and loss of financial assets, 

 non-hedge accounting    0  31

Foreign exchange gains    686  348

Other interest and financing income    82  104

Financial income, total    768  483

FinanCing eXPenSeS 
euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Foreign exchange losses    -304  -147

Other interest and financing expenses    -152  -69

Financing expenses, total    -456  -216

Financing income and expenses, total    313  267

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Premises    -1,356  -972

Marketing    -276  -253

Travel     -7,195  -5,647

Administration and other operating expenses    -3,781  -3,064

Loss on disposal of assets, tangibles    0  -5

Total     -12,608  -9,941

ReSeaRCh anD DeVeloPmenT 
euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Research and development expenses on the balance sheet   -117  -130

Capitalized research and development expenditure   0  -5

Total     -117  -135

auDiToR FeeS 
euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

External audit    -253  -176

Other services referred to in the Finnish Auditing Act   -8  -3

Tax consultancy    -70  -118

Other professional services    -126  -155

Total     -457  -452
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12. inCome TaX

13. eaRningS PeR ShaRe

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Tax on income from operations    -611  -643

Tax expense for prior years    0  -1

Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities (Note 19)   440  27

Total     -171  -617

undiluted earnings per share

Undiluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the result attributable to the shareholders of the parent by the weighted average 

number of shares during the financial year.

unDiluTeD eaRningS PeR ShaRe    2015  2014

Result attributable to the shareholders of the parent (EUR thousand)  -2,012  268

Weighted average number of shares during the financial year (1,000)  84,655  63,020

undiluted earnings per share (euR / share)    -0.02  0.00

unDiluTeD ComPRehenSiVe eaRningS PeR ShaRe    2015  2014

Comprehensive result attributable to the shareholders of the parent (EUR thousand)  -3,820  284

Weighted average number of shares during the financial year (1,000)  84,655  63,020

undiluted comprehensive earnings per share (euR / share)   -0.05  0.00

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Result before tax    -1,841  885

income tax expense at Finnish statutory rate    368  -177

Effect of different tax rates in foreign subsidiaries   -39  -119

Income that is exempt from taxation and expenses that not deductible:

 Share of results in joint ventures    -259  -110

 Expenses relating to advisory services due to acquisition, activated in the parent company -84  0

 Sale of business in Sweden, allocation of goodwill against purchase price  -87  0

 Other income and expenses    -29  -71

Changes in corporate tax rates    50  0

Unrecognized tax benefits for losses for the period   -106  -125

Previously unrecognized and unused tax losses    20  0

Tax expense for prior periods    0  -1

Impairment loss on deferred tax assets    0  -9

Other items    -5  -5

income tax in the consolidated statement of income   -171  -617

Reconciliation of the tax expense recognized in the consolidated statement of income and income taxes computed at the Finnish 

statutory tax rate 20%
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14. inTangiBle aSSeTS

Diluted earnings per share

The potential increase in the number of shares caused by all instru-

ments entitling to shares is taken into account when calculating the 

diluted earnings per share. The Group has instruments, share options, 

with the potential to increase the number of shares. An instrument 

has a dilutive effect when its subscription price is lower than the 

market value of the share. The weighted average number of shares 

   CuSTomeR  oTheR 
   agReemenTS  inTangiBle
euR ThouSanD   anD RelaTionS TRaDemaRK aSSeTS ToTal

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1   997 0 631 1,628

Translation differences (+/–)   -284 -145 3 -426

Acquisitions through business combinations   2,565 1,513 0 4,078

Disposals of businesses   -279 0 0 -279

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31   2,999 1,368 634 5,001

 

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Jan. 1  -776 0 -163 -939

Translation differences (+/–)    33 0 -3 30

Accumulated amortization from disposals   222 0 0 222

Amortization charges for the period   -239 0 -193 -432

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Dec. 31  -760 0 -359 -1,119

Book value Dec. 31, 2015   2,239 1,368 275 3,882

The Group did not determine a definite useful life for the trademark in connection with the allocation of the purchase price (see Note 4). As 

a result of the merger between Dovre Group and NPC, Dovre Group’s logo was changed and is now a combination of both companies’ logos. 

In 2014, other intangible assets Included a total of EUR 65 thousand in prepayments, which was transferred to other capitalized expenditure 

in 2015.  

DiluTeD eaRningS PeR ShaRe    2015  2014

Result attributable to the shareholders of the parent (EUR thousand)   -2,012  268

Weighted average number of shares during the financial year (1,000)  84,655  63,020

Stock option adjustment (1,000)    324  439

Weighted average number of shares for calculating the diluted earnings per share (1,000) 84,979  63,459

Diluted earnings per share (euR / share)    -0.02  0.00

DiluTeD ComPRehenSiVe eaRningS PeR ShaRe    2015  2014

Comprehensive result attributable to the shareholders of the parent (EUR thousand)  -3,820  284

Weighted average number of shares during the financial year (1,000)  84,655  63,020

Stock option adjustment (1,000)    324  439

Weighted average number of shares for calculating the diluted earnings per share (1,000) 84,979  63,459

Diluted comprehensive earnings per share (euR / share)   -0.04  0.00

intangible assets 2015

and the dilutive effect are calcualted quarterly taking into account 

those instruments that have an exercise price lower than the weighted 

average share price during that quarter. The dilutive effect is rela-

tive to the difference between the exercise price and the weighted 

average share price. The total dilutive effect for the financial year or 

several quarters is calculated as a weighted average for the period 

in question.
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   CuSTomeR  oTheR 
   agReemenTS DeVeloPmenT inTangiBle
euR ThouSanD   anD RelaTionS CoSTS aSSeTS ToTal

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1   2,746 93 487 3,326

Translation differences (+/–)   -173 0 17 -156

Additions   0 0 247 247

Disposals   -1,576 -93 -120 -1,789

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31   997 0 631 1,628

 

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Jan. 1  -2,342 -88 -142 -2,573

Translation differences (+/–)    165 0 -17 148

Accumulated amortization from disposals   1,576 93 120 1,789

Amortization charges for the period   -175 -5 -124 -304

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Dec. 31  -776 0 -163 -940

Book value Dec. 31, 2014   221 0 468 689

    PRoJeCT
euR ThouSanD    PeRSonnel ConSulTing ToTal

Jan. 1, 2015    123 98 221

Translation differences (+/–)    -254 0 -254

Additions    2,565 0 2,565

Disposals    0 -54 -54

Amortization charges for the period    -210 -29 -239

Dec. 31, 2015    2,224 15 2,239

Project Personnel

Additions in 2015 relate to the acquisition of NPC Group AS, announced in May 2015 (see Note 4). Of the acquisition cost, a total of EUR 2.6 

million was allocated to customer agreements and relations, the amortization period of which is 10 years. Project Personnel’s other acquisi-

tions took place in 2006 and 2007. Their remaining average amortization period was 1 year on Dec. 31, 2015.

Consulting

Disposals in 2015 relate to the sale of the business area’s business in Sweden, announced in November 2015. The business in Sweden had been 

acquired in 2007. Other acquisitions took place in 2008. Their remaining amortization period was 2.5 years on Dec. 31, 2015.

intangible assets 2014

Customer agreements and relations in 2015

15. gooDWill

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1    6,645  6,972

Translation differences (+/–)    -1,142  -327

Acquisitions through business combinations    10,463  0

Disposals of businesses    -379  0

Book value Dec. 31    15,588  6,645
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euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Project Personnel    14,853  5,528

Consulting, Finland and Sweden    484  850

Consulting, Norway    251  267

Total     15,588  6,645

impairment testing

Goodwill is allocated to both of the Group’s business areas. Impair-

ment testing has been performed at the year end, with December 

31, 2015 as the testing date. The recoverable amount of a cash gen-

erating unit is based on value in use calculations. A cash generating 

unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash 

inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 

assets or groups of assets. The Group’s Project Personnel business 

area consists of one and the Consulting business area of two cash 

generating units. In the Consulting business area, the business area’s 

operations in Norway form one cash generating unit and operations in 

Finland and Sweden the other cash generating unit. The Group’s sold 

its consulting business in Sweden in November 2015, in connection 

with which EUR 0.4 million of the goodwill of the cash generating unit 

was allocated to the business in Sweden. As a result of the testing, 

no indications of impairment exist.

Project Personnel

The business area’s goodwill increased to EUR 14.9 million as a result 

of the acquisition of NPC. The trademark, which has an indefinite 

useful life, was also tested in connection with goodwill. The book 

value of the trademark was EUR 1.4 million on December 31, 2015. 

The business area’s market situation has been challenging and the 

management expects it to remain challenging also in 2016. Demand 

is expected to pick up after 2016 so that the business area’s net sales 

are expected to reach the same level as in 2014 (pro forma), approx. 

EUR 160 million, at the end of the projection period. The average 

rate of growth during the projection period is 9%. Profitability is 

expected to improve steadily with growing net sales. The average 

EBIT % during the projection period is 3%. The sensitivity of the 

standard calculation was tested by changing the expected net sales 

growth rate. Had the average rate of growth in net sales been 3% 

and EBIT % 2% during the projection period, the unit’s recoverable 

amount would have equaled its carrying value.

  PRoJeCT  ConSulTing,  ConSulTing,
  PeRSonnel  FinlanD  noRWaY

Growth in net sales  9 %  1 %  1 %

EBIT %    3 %  9 %  13 %

Terminal growth rate  1 %  1 %  1 %

goodwill by cash generating unit

average rates of growth

The discount rate used in testing is based on the weighted avera-

ge cost of capital (WACC) after tax, which is based on risk-free rate 

of return, operational risks, market risk premium, comparable peer 

industry beta coefficient, cost of debt, and target capital structure. 

In 2015, the discount rate used was 10.40% (11.00% in 2014). The 

change in the discount rate was primarily due to lower peer industry 

beta coefficient. The discount rate before tax per unit varied between 

12.44% and 12.97%.

Key variables used in testing are net sales growth rate and EBIT %, 

which are based on the Group’s budget for 2016 as approved by the 

Board of Directors. For the projection period 2017-2020, the variables 

used varied across units. Terminal growth rate was 1% in all units. For 

the purposes of impairment testing, a share of the expenses of the 

Group’s Other functions and a share of the Group’s unallocated items 

have been allocated to the Group’s cash generating units. The variab-

les used are based on current business performance, the business 

area’s market position, and the business area’s potential for growth.

Consulting, Finland

The calculation has been performed for business operations in Fin-

land, because the Group’s consulting business in Sweden was sold in 

November 2015. In the calculation, the variables used for the whole 

projection period are based on the budget for 2016. As the majority of 

the unit’s expenses are fixed, the calculation is sensitive to reaching 

the projected net sales. The management estimates that the Group’s 

consulting business in Finland will reach the budgeted net sales and 

that as a result, it is reasonable to expect that the unit’s recoverable 

amount exceeds its carrying value.

Consulting, norway

In the calculation, variables used for the whole projection period are 

based on the budget for 2016. The amount of goodwill to be tested 

is small compared to the recoverable amount.
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16. TangiBle aSSeTS

17. inVeSTmenTS in JoinT VenTuReS

       maChineRY 
euR ThouSanD   lanD BuilDingS anD eQuiPmenT ToTal

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1   0 0 671 671

Translation differences (+/–)   0 0 -16 -16

Acquisitions through business combinations   0 0 77 77

Additions   0 0 18 18

Transfer from assets held for sale    240 650 0 890

Disposals   0 -12 -51 -63

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31   240 638 699 1,577

Accumulated depreciation and value adjustments, Jan. 1  0 0 -534 -534

Translation differences (+/–)    0 0 8 8

Accumulated depreciation from disposals   0 0 51 51

Depreciation charges for the period   0 -18 -88 -106

Accumulated depreciation and value adjustments, Dec. 31  0 -18 -563 -581

Book value, Dec. 31, 2015   240 620 137 997

 

     maChineRY 
euR ThouSanD     anD eQuiPmenT ToTal

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1     625 625

Translation differences  (+/–)     -4 -4

Additions     72 72

Disposals     -22 -22

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31     671 671

 

Accumulated depreciation and value adjustments, Jan. 1    -481 -481

Translation differences (+/–)      4 4

Accumulated depreciation from disposals     16 16

Depreciation charges for the year     -73 -73

Accumulated depreciation and value adjustments, Dec. 31    -534 -534

Book value, Dec. 31, 2014     138 138

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

At the beginning of the financial year    521  967

Additions     2,078  27

Disposals    -352  0

Share of profit and loss in joint ventures    -1,295  -555

Translation differences    77  82

at the end of the financial year    1,029  521

 

Tangible assets 2015

Tangible assets 2014

Shares in Kiinteistö Oy Kuukoti, which were presented as assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 on December 31, 2014, were reclas-

sified as tangible assets during 2015. The asset was divided into land and buildings. The parent company presents the shares in Kiinteistö Oy 

Kuukoti as shares in associates (see parent company note 11).
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name  DomiCile  2015  2014

SaraRasa Biomass Pte. Ltd.  Singapore  0.00 %  11.56 %

SaraRasa Bioindo Pte. Ltd.  Singapore  29.00 %  26.09 %

SaraRasa Bioindo’s main line of business is the sale of biomass and renewable energy. SaraRasa Bioindo’s wholly owned subsidiary SaraRasa 

Synergy Pte. Ltd. holds 99% of the shares in its subsidiary that operates a pellet production plant using sustainable waste materials. The 

production plant is located in Indonesia. In 2016, SaraRasa Bioindo bought the remaining share of the production plant, 1%, from its previous 

owner, SaraRasa Biomass Pte. Ltd. In 2014, both investments were treated as associates, because the Group had significant influence in the 

companies in accordance with shareholder agreements. Change of classification in 2015 is due to changes to the shareholder agreement in 

2015, in accordance with which for example the company’s business plans require unanimous decision amongst the shareholders. The com-

panies are not publicly listed. The companies has been accounted for using the equity method. 

BalanCeS WiTh JoinT VenTuReS
euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Loan receivables    0  894

Interest receivables    0  36

Trade receivables       3  23

Interest income    26  52

Summary of joint ventures’ financial information

    SaRaRaSa BioinDo PTe. lTD. SaRaRaSa BiomaSS PTe. lTD.
euR ThouSanD  2015 2014  2015 2014

Current assets  411 973  0 175

Non-current assets  3,434 4,311  0 337

Current liabilities  -534 -645  0 -41

Non-current liabilities  -2,699 -5,052  0 0

Shareholders’ prepayments *)  -1,148 0  0 0

Net sales  0 284  0 0

Result for the period  -4,102 -2,054  0 -74

Reconciliation to book value on the Group’s balance sheet:

Group’s ownership %  29.00 % 26.09 %  0.00 % 11.56 %

Group’s share of net assets  -129 -287  0 52

Prepayments for additions *)  372 0  0 0

Goodwill  786 451  0 305

Book value on the group’s balance sheet  1,029 164  0 357

*) In January 2016, Dovre Group Plc paid the remaining share, USD 135 thousand, of the increase in share capital agreed in July 2015.

SaraRasa’s financial information involves uncertainties, because the company’s financials for 2015 are unaudited and the audit for 2014 is 

still ongoing.

Additions in 2015 are investments in SaraRasa Bioindo Pte. Ltd (Bioindo). Of the additions, a total of EUR 1.4 million is related to Bioindo’s 

restructuring in June, whereby convertible bonds given by Dovre Group to Bioindo in 2014 were converted into shares in Bioindo. As a result 

of the restructuring, Dovre Group’s holdings in Bioindo increased to 29%. In addition, Dovre Group’s holdings in SaraRasa Biomass Pte. Ltd. 

were converted to holdings in Bioindo. The remainder of the additions in Bioindo in 2015 consists of Dovre Group’s investment in the company 

in accordance with an agreement signed in July 2015.

The Group’s joint ventures, their location and the Group’s ownership:
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18. non-CuRRenT aSSeTS

19. DeFeRReD TaX aSSeTS anD liaBiliTieS

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Non-current loan receivables from joint ventures    0  894

Non-current loan receivables    41  37

Total     41  931

The Group’s receivables have been recognized using the effective rate method. Convertable bonds given to joint ventures, which were USD-

nominated, were converted to shares in joint ventures in 2015. The effective interest rate of the convertable bonds was 12% and included a 

total of EUR 17 thousand of capitalized interest receivables.

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Deferred tax assets    308  307

Deferred tax liabilities    -1,012  -568

Total     -704  -261

ReConCiliaTion oF DeFeRReD TaX aSSeTS   ChaRgeD To  
anD liaBiliTieS 2015   inCome  TRanSlaTion
euR ThouSanD  Jan. 1, 2015 STaTemenT aCQuiSiTionS DiFFeRenCeS DeC. 31, 2015

Tax losses carried forward  289 -9  11 291

Restructuring provision  0 176  -12 164

Allocation of fair value on acquisitions  -54 129 -1,003 99 -829

Withholding tax on undistributed earnings  -190 126   -64

Other temporary difference  -306 18 2 20 -266

Total   -261 440 -1,001 118 -704

ReConCiliaTion oF DeFeRReD TaX aSSeTS   ChaRgeD To 
anD liaBiliTieS 2014   inCome  TRanSlaTion
euR ThouSanD  Jan. 1, 2014 STaTemenT  DiFFeRenCeS DeC. 31, 2014

Tax losses carried forward  283 -8  14 289

Capitalized and amortized R&D costs  -1 1  0 0

Allocation of fair value on acquisitions  -102 45  3 -54

Withholding tax on undistributed earnings  -190 0  0 -190

Other temporary differences  -293 -11  -2 -306

Total     -303 27  15 -261

Carry-forward losses

On December 31, 2015, the Group carried forward losses worth of EUR 4 million (EUR 10 million on December 31, 2014), for which no deferred 

tax assets have been recognized. A total of EUR 2.7 million of the Group’s losses expire in 2017-2024. The remaining losses expire later or have 

no definite expiration date. The Group has not recognized a deferred tax asset, totaling EUR 1.2 million, for an intra-group business transfer 

carried out in 2015.
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20. TRaDe anD oTheR ReCeiVaBleS

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Trade receivables       17,578  13,077

Impairment loss on trade receivables    0  -38

Currency derivative    0  32

Other receivables    262  100

Prepayments and accrued income on sales    822  966

Other prepayments and accrued income    590  706

Other receivables from joint ventures, interest receivable   3  36

Total     19,256  14,879

The book values of the receivables are based on a reasonable estimate of their fair values. No significant concentrations of credit risk are 

associated with the receivables. Other prepayments and accrued income include accrued expenses.

ageing analYSiS oF TRaDe ReCeiVaBleS
euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Not due     11,613  10,344

Overdue

 1–30 days    5,506  2,354

 31–60 days    361  164

 61–90 days    21  48

 Over 90 days    77  130

Total     17,578  13,039

Changes in provision for impairment of trade receivables:

euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Impairment loss, Jan. 1    38  62

Translation differences (+/–)    0  -3

Provisions used    -38  0

Reversal of provision    0  -21

impairment loss, Dec. 31    0  38

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Cash and bank    10,902  10,343

Total     10,902  10,343

Dovre Group Plc has one class of shares. The book value of the shares is EUR 0.10 per share (EUR 0.15 per share in 2014). Each share entitles 

the shareholder to one vote. Dovre Group Plc’s shares are listed in Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The maximum number of Dovre Group Plc’s shares is 

160 million shares (160 million in 2014). The shares do not carry a nominal value. The Group’s maximum share capital is EUR 41.6 million (EUR 

41.6 million in 2014). All shares issued have been fully paid for.

21. CaSh anD CaSh eQuiValenTS

22. ShaReholDeRS’ eQuiTY
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     ReSeRVe FoR  
   numBeR oF ShaRe non-ReSTRiCTeD FaiR Value ReValuaTion
euR ThouSanD ShaReS CaPiTal eQuiTY ReSeRVe ReSeRVe ToTal

Dec. 31, 2013 62,915,751 9,603 352 0 21 9,976

Transfer to retained earnings 0 0 0 0 -21 -21

Stock options exercised 350,000 0 111 0 0 111

Dec. 31, 2014 63,265,751 9,603 463 0 0 10,066

Merger with NPC 36,453,018 0 11,712 2,869 0 14,581

Stock options exercised 150,000 0 44 0 0 44

Dec. 31, 2015 99,868,769 9,603 12,219 2,869 0 24,691

Reconciliation of the number of shares

Changes in 2015

A total of 120,000 shares were subscribed for under Dovre Group Plc’s 2010A option plan in Q1. The subscription period of the plan was March 

1, 2012–February 28, 2015. The increase in the company’s number of shares was entered in the Finnish trade register on March 2, 2015. A 

total of 30,000 shares were subscribed for under Dovre Group Plc’s 2010C option plan in Q1. The subscription period of the plan is March 1, 

2014–February 28, 2017. The increase in the company’s number of shares was entered in the Finnish trade register on March 2, 2015. The 

subscription price for 2010A stock options was EUR 0.28 and for 2010C stock options EUR 0.33. The increases in the number of shares due 

to stock options exercised have been recorded in the reserve for non-restricted equity.

In connection with the acquisition of NPC, Dovre Group issued a total of 36,453,018 new shares in Dovre Group Plc as direct issue to NPC’s 

sellers in Q2. The increase in the company’s number of shares was entered in the Finnish trade register on June 4, 2015. After the registration, 

the total number of shares in the company is 99,868,769 shares. The increase in the number of shares due to direct issue has been recorded 

in the reserve for non-restricted equity and the fair value reserve. The amount recorded in the reserve for non-restrictred equity corresponds 

to the declaration of contributed capital. The total value of the issue was calculated based on Dovre Group Plc’s market price on the date of 

acquisition and the difference was recorded in the fair value reserve (see Note 4).

Changes in 2014

In 2014, a total of 175,000 shares were subscribed for under the Group’s 2010A option plan (subscription period March 1, 2012 - Feb. 28, 2015) 

and a total of 175,000 shares under the Group’s 2010C option plan (subscription period March 1, 2014 - Feb. 28, 2017). The subscription prices 

were as follows: 2010A EUR 0.28 per share and 2010C EUR 0.33 per share.

Dividend distribution in 2015

Dovre Group Plc’s Annual General Meeting held on March 25, 2015, decided that shareholders be paid a dividend of EUR 0.02 per share for the 

financial year 2014, corresponding to approx. EUR 1.3 million. The dividend was paid on April 8, 2015. Based on an authorization granted by the 

Annual General Meeting, and as part of the acquisition of NPC, the company’s Board of Directors decided that shareholders be paid an extra 

dividend of EUR 0.06 per share, corresponding to approx. EUR 3.8 million. The dividend was paid on September 30, 2015. The consideration 

shares issued in connection with the acquisition of NPC were not entitled to the dividend for 2014 or to the extra dividend.

The Group has two open option plans that form part of the Group’s remuneration and commitment program of the Group’s management and key 

personnel. The option rights are granted gratuitously. Each stock option entitles the holder to subscribe one share in Dovre Group Plc (DOV1V) 

at the subscription price and during the subscription period determined in accordance with the terms and conditions of the stock option plan.

2010 stock option plan

In its meeting on May 27, 2010, the Board of Directors approved the 2010 option plan based on the authorization given by the Annual General 

Meeting held on April 18, 2007. The plan has open two series (2010B and 2010C). 

23. ShaRe-BaSeD ComPenSaTion
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2010 SToCK oPTion Plan    2010B  2010C

Grant date    April 27, 2011  Feb. 14, 2012

Option life in years    5  5

Subscription period   March 1, 2013–Feb. 28, 2016 March 1, 2014–Feb. 28, 2017

Period for determining subscription price   Jan. 1–March 31, 2011 Jan. 1–March 31, 2012

Original subscription price *)    EUR 0.47  EUR 0.38

Subscription price on Dec. 31, 2014    EUR 0.42  EUR 0.33

Subscription price on Dec. 31, 2015    EUR 0.36  EUR 0.27

Total number of options on grant date    775,000  775,000

Total number of options outstanding on Dec. 31, 2015   395,000  570,000

*) No dividend adjustment, but the Board of Directors of Dovre Group Plc decided in their meeting on March 27, 2014 to lower the subscription 

price for stock options granted under the 2010 plan by an amount equal to the extraordinary dividend paid in 2013, EUR 0.05 per share. In 

addition, the Board of Directors of Dovre Group Plc decided on May 28, 2015 to lower the subscription prices by an amount equal to the extra 

dividend paid in connection with the acquisition of NPC, EUR 0.06 per share.

2013 SToCK oPTion Plan  2013a  2013B  2013C

Grant date  Jan. 24, 2013  Jan. 24, 2014  Jan. 22, 2015

Option life in years  5  5  5

Subscription period March 1, 2015–Feb. 29, 2018 March 1, 2016–Feb. 28, 2019 March 1, 2017–Feb. 28, 2020

Period for determining      

subscription price Feb. 1–March 31, 2013  Feb. 1–March 31, 2014 Feb. 1–March 31, 2015

Original subscription price  *)  EUR 0.54  EUR 0.60  EUR 0.51

Subscription price on Dec. 31, 2014  EUR 0.47  EUR 0.60

Subscription price on Dec. 31, 2015  EUR 0.39  EUR 0.52  EUR 0.45

Total number of options on grant date  1,000,000  1,000,000  1,000,000

Total number of options outstanding on Dec. 31, 2015 900,000  835,000  950,000

*) Should the company distribute assets as dividends or as equity return from non-restricted equity, the per-share amounts of dividends 

and/or equity returns distributed from non-restricted equity shall be deducted from the share subscription price of the stock options, if this 

distribution is decided after the period for determination of the share subscription price but before the share subscription period has begun 

and providing that the shares subscribed for do not entitle to such dividends or equity return. The minimum share subscription price shall 

always be at least EUR 0.01.      
      
     WeighTeD aVeRage
ChangeS in The numBeR oF oPTionS anD    numBeR oF  eXeRCiSe PRiCe
The WeighTeD aVeRage eXeRCiSe PRiCe in 2015    oPTionS   (euR / ShaRe)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year    2,790,000  0.45

Granted     1,550,000  0.49

Returned    -300,000  0.50

Exercised    -150,000  0.28

Expired     -240,000  0.28

outstanding on Dec. 31, 2015    3,650,000  0.41

exercisable on Dec. 31, 2015    1,865,000  0.35

2013 stock option plan

In its meeting on January 24, 2013, the Board of Directors of Dovre Group Plc approved the 2013 option plan based on the authorization 

granted by the Annual General Meeting held on March 15, 2012. The plan is divided into three series (2013A, 2013B, and 2013C). Each option 

series includes a maximum of 1,000,000 stock options..

Should the subscriber’s employment in Dovre Group end for some other reason than retirement or death, the company has, by Board deci-

sion, the right to redeem at no cost the subscriber’s option rights the subscription period of which has not yet started. Should the subscriber’s 

employment in Dovre Group end for some other reason than those mentioned above after the start of the subscription period, the subscriber 

is entitled and liable to subscribe for the stock options within 30 days after the end of the term of employment. The company’s Board reserves 

the right to grant subscribers the entitlement to stock options held or to a part of them.



group Financial Statements, iFRS40

      
      
     WeighTeD aVeRage
ChangeS in The numBeR oF oPTionS anD     numBeR oF  eXeRCiSe PRiCe
The WeighTeD aVeRage eXeRCiSe PRiCe in 2014    oPTionS  (euR /ShaRe)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year    2,255,000  0.44

Granted     1,310,000  0.55

Returned    -425,000  0.50

Exercised    -350,000  0.29

outstanding on Dec. 31, 2014    2,790,000  0.45

exercisable on Dec. 31, 2014    1,355,000  0.34

       
      
ouTSTanDing oPTionS on DeC. 31, 2015;     WeighTeD aVeRage  
eXeRCiSe PRiCe anD WeighTeD aVeRage  numBeR oF  eXeRCiSe PRiCe Remaining ConTRaCTual
Remaining ConTRaCTual liFe  ShaReS  (euR / ShaRe)  liFe (YeaRS)

Options 2010B  395,000  0.36  0.2

Options 2010C  570,000  0.27  1.2

Options 2013A  900,000  0.39  2.2

Options 2013B  835,000  0.52  3.2

Options 2013C  950,000  0.45  4.2

outstanding on Dec. 31, 2015  3,650,000  0.41  2.6

       
      
ouTSTanDing oPTionS on DeC. 31, 2014;     WeighTeD aVeRage  
eXeRCiSe PRiCe anD WeighTeD aVeRage  numBeR oF  eXeRCiSe PRiCe Remaining ConTRaCTual
Remaining ConTRaCTual liFe  ShaReS  (euR / ShaRe)  liFe (YeaRS)

Options 2010A  360,000  0.28  0.2

Options 2010B  395,000  0.42  1.2

Options 2010C  600,000  0.33  2.2

Options 2013A  475,000  0.47  3.2

Options 2013B  960,000  0.60  4.2

outstanding on Dec. 31, 2014  2,790,000  0.45  2.7

2010 oPTion Plan    2010B  2010C

Share price at grant date    EUR 0.50  EUR 0.41

Exercise price     EUR 0.47  EUR 0.38

Expected volatility    30 %  30 %

Expected option life in years (at grant date)    5  5

Expected dividend yield    0  2 %

Risk-free rate    2.80 %  1.50 %

Anticipated cuts in personnel %    N/A  N/A

Fair value of option at grant date    0.17  0.11

Granted options    775,000  775,000

Fair value of option plan at grant date (EUR 1,000)   130  82

Fair value of options

Dovre Group calculates the fair value of stock options at grant date using the Black & Scholes model. The fair value is recognized as personnel 

expense over the vesting period (see Note 7). The key variables used for determining the fair value of the options are presented in the table below. 
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2013 oPTion Plan  2013a  2013B  2013C

Share price at grant date  EUR 0.57  EUR 0.48  EUR 0.48

Exercise price   EUR 0.54  EUR 0.60  EUR 0.51

Expected volatility  30 %  28 %  31 %

Expected option life in years (at grant date)  5  5  5

Risk-free rate  0.60 %  0.88 %  0.15 %

Anticipated cuts in personnel %  N/A  N/A  N/A

Fair value of option at grant date  EUR 0.17  EUR 0.09  EUR 0.12

Granted options  1,000,000  1,000,000  1,000,000

Fair value of option plan at grant date (EUR 1,000) 169  91  122

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Non-current loans from financial institutions    2,250  0

Non-current liabilities to others    41  37

Total     2,291  37

 

The average interest rate for the Group’s non-current loans from financial institutions was 0.75% in 2015.

The Group’s non-current liabilities to others are measured at amortized cost and their fair value is based on a reasonable estimate of their 

book value. The liabilities relate to the parent company’s option to acquire the shares of Project Completion Management Ltd.

The fair value of the Group’s non-current financial liabilities is based on a reasonable estimate of their book value.

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Current loans from financial institutions    1,886  1,153

Lines of credit in use    1,546  136

Total     3,432  1,289

The average interest rate for current loans was 0.95% in 2015 (1.35% in 2014). The fair values of the liabilities correspond, in material aspects, 

to their carrying values. The interest rate for the Group’s lines of credit in use was Nibor 1m + 1.8% margin in 2015 (Euribor 1m + 1.5% margin 

in 2014).

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Trade payables    6,250  5,058

Other current liabilities    6,842  4,128

Total     13,093  9,185

24. non-CuRRenT FinanCial liaBiliTieS

25. CuRRenT FinanCial liaBiliTieS

26. TRaDe PaYaBleS anD oTheR liaBiliTieS
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CuRRenT aCCRualS anD DeFeRReD inCome
euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Accrued employee expenses    2,494  2,008

Other current accrued liabilities on income and expenses   1,436  737

Total     3,930  2,745

Trade payables and other liabilities, total    17,023  11,931

The fair values of the liabilities are equal to their carrying values.

ChangeS in PRoViSionS, 2015   ReVeRSal PRoViSionS TRanSlaTion
euR ThouSanD Jan 1, 2015 inCReaSe oF PRoViSionS uSeD DiFFeRenCeS DeC. 31, 2015

Restructuring provision 0 920 0 -175 -48 697

Other provisions 30 2 0 -11 0 21

Total  30 922 0 -186 -48 718

   FinanCial 
  loanS anD aSSeTS/ FinanCial
  ReCeiVaBleS  liaBiliTieS liaBiliTieS
  meaSuReD aT FaiR Value meaSuReD aT  BalanCe BalanCe
2015  aT The eFFeCTiVe ThRough PRoFiT  amoRTiZeD SheeT iTemS SheeT iTemS
euR ThouSanD inTeReST RaTe meThoD oR loSS CoST aT BooK Value aT FaiR Value

Non-current financial assets

 Loan receivables from others  41   41 41

Current financial assets

 Trade receivables   17,581   17,581 17,578

    17,623   17,623 17,620

Non-current financial liabilities

 Interest-bearing liabilities    2,250 2,250 2,250

 Other liabilities    41 41 41

Current financial liabilities

 Interest-bearing liabilities    3,432 3,432 3,432

 Trade payables    6,250 6,250 6,250

      11,974 11,974 11,974

ChangeS in PRoViSionS, 2014   ReVeRSal PRoViSionS TRanSlaTion
euR ThouSanD Jan 1, 2014 inCReaSe oF PRoViSionS uSeD DiFFeRenCeS DeC. 31, 2014

Litigation provisions 20 0 -4 -16 0 0

Other provisions 8 22 0 0 0 30

Total  28 22 -4 -16 0 30

27. non-CuRRenT anD CuRRenT PRoViSionS

28. FinanCial inSTRumenTS aT FaiR Value
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  loanS anD  FinanCial 
  ReCeiVaBleS aSSeTS/ FinanCial
  meaSuReD aT liaBiliTieS liaBiliTieS
  The eFFeCTiVe aT FaiR Value meaSuReD aT BalanCe BalanCe
2014  inTeReST ThRough PRoFiT amoRTiZeD SheeT iTemS SheeT iTemS
euR ThouSanD  RaTe meThoD oR loSS CoST aT BooK Value aT FaiR Value

Non-current financial assets

 Loan receivables from joint ventures  894   894 894

 Loan receivables from others  37   37 37

Current financial assets

 Interest receivables from joint ventures  36   36 36

 Derivatives– receivable   32  32 32

 Trade receivables   13,039   13,039 13,039

    14,006 32  14,038 14,038

Non-current financial liabilities

 Other liabilitie    37 37 37

Current financial liabilities

 Interest-bearing liabilities    1,289 1,289 1,289

 Trade payables    5,058 5,058 5,058

      6,384 6,384 6,384

In 2014, the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss consisted of currency derivatives. The fair value of deriva-

tives was determined using the appropriate quoted market price and commonly used option valuation methods. This corresponds to level 2 

in the hierarchy required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

Currency derivatives reported in 2014 matured on January 8, 2015. Underlying instruments:

•		 Currency	option	NOK	5.5	million	(bought	call)

•		 Currency	option	NOK	5.5	million	(sold	put)

The Group had no currency derivates at the end of 2015.

29. FinanCial RiSK anD CaPiTal STRuCTuRe managemenT

Financial Risk management

In its operations, Dovre Group is exposed to common financial risks, 

most importantly foreign exchange risk. The purpose of financial risk 

management is to ensure that the Group has access to sufficient and 

cost-effective funding in all market situations and to monitor and 

minimize any potential risks. Financial risks are managed centrally by 

the Group’s parent company’s finance function, which is responsible 

for the Group’s financing. Financial risk management is part of the 

Group’s operational management.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is thus exposed to a variety 

of foreign exchange risks. Such risks arise from exchange rate fluc-

tuations relating to foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities, 

and planned business transactions (transaction risk) and from invest-

ments in foreign subsidiaries and associates (translation risk). The 

Group manages its foreign exchange risks in accordance with the 

Group’s currency hedging policy, approved by the Board of Directors 

in 2014. The purpose of the policy is to minimize the company’s sub-

sidiaries’ foreign exchange risks and to centrally hedge the Group’s 

foreign exchange risks at the parent company, when necessary. The 

company does not automatically hedge its foreign currency positions. 

However, should it be deemed necessary for risk management and 

be in the best interest of the company’s shareholders, the company’s 

Board of Directors may pursue prudent and selective hedging. Op-

eratively, the company seeks to avoid any unnecessary increase in 

foreign exchange risks and any unnecessary currency transactions. 

Foreign exchange risk management is a regular part of the Boards’ 

charter. 

Transaction risks

Majority of the Group’s operations is local service business and is 

denominated in local functional currencies. It does not therefore 

involve transaction risks. The Group’s internal invoicing and loans are 

primarily initiated in the local currencies of the subsidiaries and any 

possible foreign exchange risks are hedged using foreign currency 

derivatives at the parent company. 

The foreign exchange risk sensitivity analysis for the most impor-

tant currency pairs, disclosed in accordance with IFRS 7, has been 

calculated for the Group’s foreign currency nominated financial assets 

and liabilities including foreign currency derivatives outstanding on 

the balance sheet date. The exposures in the most important currency 

pairs are disclosed in the table below.
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euR million noK CaD uSD SgD gBP ToTal

Exposure Dec. 31, 2015 0.1 0.0 0.8 0.2 -0.1 1.0

Exposure Dec. 31, 2014 0.0 0.1 2.3 0.0 -0.1 2.4

eXPoSuRe againST euR

eXPoSuRe againST noK

euR million   uSD gBP SgD ToTal

Exposure Dec. 31, 2015   0.6 1.3 0.3 1.8

Exposure Dec. 31, 2014   0.2 -0.1 0.0 0.1

eXPoSuRe againST SgD

euR million    uSD noK ToTal

Exposure Dec. 31, 2015    0.7 0.3 1.0

Exposure Dec. 31, 2014    0.0 0.0 0.0

eXPoSuRe againST uSD

euR million    gBP euR ToTal

Exposure Dec. 31, 2015    0.4 0.1 0.5

Exposure Dec. 31, 2014    0.0 0.0 0.0

eXPoSuRe againST CaD

euR million    gBP euR ToTal

Exposure Dec. 31, 2015    0.3 0.0 0.3

Exposure Dec. 31, 2014    0.4 0.1 0.6

  Change in    imPaCT on
  euR/noK  imPaCT  oPeRaTing
euR million  eXChange RaTe  on neT SaleS  ReSulT

2015   10 %  -3.7  -0.1

    -10 %  4.6  0.1

2014   10 %  -4.6  -0.2

    -10 %  5.7  0.2

Translation risks

Changes in consolidation exchange rates affect the Group’s income 

statement, cash flow statement, and the statement of financial posi-

tion, which are presented in euros, thus giving rise to translation risk. 

As the majority of the Group’s net sales occur in functional curren-

cies other than the euro, the translation risk related to the Group’s 

net sales and operating result is material to the Group. In 2015, the 

The foreign exchange risk sensitivity analysis illustrates the impact of a 20% movement in exchange rates and has been calculated before 

taxes. An estimated 20% movement in the foreign exchange rates on the balance sheet date would have resulted in an impact of EUR 1.0 (0.6) 

million on the Group’s result before taxes with the exchange rates strengthening and EUR -1.0 (-0.6) million with the exchange rates weakening.

Group’s comparable net sales changed by -15 (0.4) % and operating 

result by -60 (-50) % in euros. The corresponding changes in local 

currencies were -16 (6) % and -56 (-38) %.

The impact of a 10% movement in average annual exchange rates 

of the Group’s main currencies on the Group’s net sales and operating 

result is presented in the table below.
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  Change in    imPaCT on
  euR/CaD  imPaCT  oPeRaTing
euR million  eXChange RaTe  on neT SaleS  ReSulT

2015   10 %  -2.0  -0.1

    -10 %  2.4  0.2

2014   10 %  -2.4  -0.2

    -10 %  3.0  0.2

The translation differences arising from the translation of the Group’s subsidiaries’ balance sheets into euros was EUR -1.9 million in 2015 (no 

translation difference in 2014). The translation difference was mainly caused by the weakening of the Norwegian crown and the Canadian 

dollar against the euro. In 2014, there was no translation difference as the weakening of the Norwegian crown against the euro was compen-

sated by the strengthening of the Canadian and the US dollars against the euro. The translation risk was not hedged during the financial year.

euR million    2015  2014

Cash and cash equivalents    10.9  10.3

Credit facilities    6.7  1.5

 Lines of credit in use    -1.5  -0.1

Total     16.1  11.7

The increase in the Group’s credit facilities is due to the credit facilities transferred to the Group in connection with the merger with NPC.

euR million    2015  2014

Interest-bearing liabilities    5.7  1.3

Cash and cash equivalents    10.9  10.3

net debt    -5.2  -9.1

Shareholders’ equity      27.3  21.5

gearing    -19.1 %  -42.2 %

The Group’s debt-equity ratio (gearing) was –19.1% on December 31, 2015 (-42.2% on December 31, 2014). Change in gearing in 2015 was mainly 

due to increases in interest-bearing liabilities.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk relates to the Group’s non-current loans, 

totaling EUR 2.3 million on December 31, 2015. The Group had no 

non-current interest-bearing loans in 2014. The Group does not hedge 

the interest rate risk.

Customer credit risk

A substantive part of the Group’s receivables are from a small num-

ber of customers. However, the Group does not consider there to be 

any significant concentrations of customer credit risk because these 

customers are large and financially solid companies. Customers’ cred-

itworthiness is secured through credit checks. Trade receivables are 

monitored centrally by Group functions. The Group does not provide 

customer financing.

Ageing structure of the Group’s receivables and impairment losses 

recognized during the financial year are presented in Note 20 Trade 

and Other Receivables.

Liquidity risk

The purpose of liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group 

has access to sufficient liquid assets and credit facilities in order to 

guarantee sufficient funding of the Group’s business operations. The 

Group’s liquidity is controlled through cash and liquidity management. 

The Group’s liquidity remained strong in 2015.

On December 31, 2015, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were 

EUR 10.9 million (EUR 10.3 million on December 31, 2014). In addition, 

the parent company and subsidiaries have unused credit limits.

Capital Structure management

The purpose of the Group’s capital structure management is to en-

sure the Group’s liquidity in all market situations, to secure funding 

for the Group’s strategic investments, and to maintain the Group’s 

shareholder value. Capital structure management comprises the 

management of the Group’s solidity and liquidity. The Group’s capital 

structure is monitored by using the debt to equity ratio (gearing). 

The debt-equity ratio is calculated by dividing total interest-bearing 

net liabilities by total assets. Net liabilities include interest-bearing 

liabilities less cash and cash equivalents.
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FuTuRe minimum leaSe PaYmenTS FoR non-CanCellaBle oPeRaTing leaSeS
euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Not later than one year     666  607

Later than one year and not later than five years   606  958

Total     1,272  1,565

The Group’s leases business premises and cars under various non-cancellable leases. The leases have varying lenghts, index clauses, and 

renewal and other terms. 

In 2015, EUR 1,346 thousand in lease payments for business premises were recognized as expense in the income statement (EUR 865 thousand 

in 2014) and EUR 60 thousand for cars (EUR 26 thousand in 2014). In 2015, the Group’s leases for business premises includes approx. EUR 

0.6 million provision for business premises in Norway that are no longer in use.

euR ThouSanD    DeC. 31, 2015  DeC. 31, 2014

Collateral for own commitments

 Trade receivables pledged as collateral    10,413  2,765

 Floating charges    3,000  0

 Pledged charges, book value in the Group    860  890

Disputes and court proceedings

The Group has no pending disputes or court proceedings.

FuTuRe minimum inCome on non-CanCellaBle oTheR leaSeS
euR ThouSanD    2015  2014

Not later than one year     14  0

Total     14  0

group as lessee

group as lessor

30. oTheR RenTal agReemenTS

31. CommiTmenTS anD ConTingenT liaBiliTieS
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     ShaReholDing ShaReholDing
ComPanY   DomiCile CounTRY %, PaRenT %, gRouP

Dovre Asia Pte Ltd.    Singapore Singapore 100.00 100.00

Dovre Australia Pty Ltd.   Sydney Australia 100.00 100.00

Dovre Canada Ltd.   St. John's Canada 100.00 100.00

Dovre Club Oy   Helsinki Finland 100.00 100.00

Dovre Group AB   Stockholm Sweden 100.00 100.00

Dovre Group Consulting AS   Stavanger Norway 100.00 100.00

Dovre Group Inc.    Houston USA 100.00 100.00

Dovre Group LLC   Južno-Sahalinsk Russia 100.00 100.00

Dovre Group Projects AS   Stavanger Norway 100.00 100.00

Dovre UK Ltd.   London UK 100.00 100.00

Norwegian Petroleum Consultants Limited   London UK 100.00 100.00

Norwegian Petroleum Consultants LLC   Houston USA 0.00 100.00

Norwegian Petroleum Consultants Pte Ltd.   Singapore Singapore 0.00 100.00

Project Completion Management Inc.   Houston USA 0.00 48.00

Project Completion Management Ltd.   Hampshire UK 48.00 48.00

The Group consolidates Project Completion Management because the company has a call option to purchase all issued shares at any time.

gRouP ToTal    2015  2014

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits    -1,124  -865

Severance pay in connection with termination of employment   0  -74

Share-based compensation     -106  -51

Total     -1,230  -990

In 2015, the CEO’s share-based compensation totaled EUR 38 thousand (EUR 35 thousand in 2014).

32. SuBSiDiaRieS

33. RelaTeD PaRTY TRanSaCTionS

Transactions with related parties

A related party is an entity, in which a member of the management of the Group or of its parent company holds either direct or indirect control, 

holds control together with another party, or has significant influence.

Transactions with joint ventures are presented in Note 17 Investments in Joint Ventures. Dovre Group did not have any material transac-

tions with any other related parties in 2015 or 2014. There were no loans given to management in the Group balance sheet on December 31, 

2015 or December 31, 2014.

management remuneration and compensation

Key management remuneration and compensation

Information includes total remuneration paid to the members of the Board and the members of the Group Executive Team. The Group Execu-

tive Team increased by two members as a result of the merger with NPC, completed on May 28, 2015.
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Remuneration paid to the Ceo and the members of the Board

Information includes the total remuneration, compensation, and fringe benefits paid to the CEO and the acting CEO of the parent company 

and the members of the Board of Directors of Dovre Group Plc.

management stock options

Information includes stock options granted to the members of the Group Executive Team. Members of the Board of Directors have not been 

granted and do not hold any stock options.

Ceo anD BoaRD memBeRS    2015  2014

Board members on Dec. 31, 2015:

Rainer Häggblom – Chairman of the Board as of March 27, 2014   1) -35  -32

Tero Viherto – Vice Chairman of the Board as of March 27, 2014   1) -25  -19

Ilari Koskelo – Board member    1) -22  -23

Arja Koski – Board member as of March 27, 2014    1) -22  -17

Former Board members:

Ossi Pohjola – Board member until March 27, 2014     -5

Hannu Vaajoensuu – Chairman of the Board until March 27, 2014     -9

Ceo:

Patrick von Essen – CEO as of April 1, 2014    -254  -163

Tarja Leikas – acting CEO Dec. 17, 2013 - March 31, 2014   2)   -6

Total     -358  -273

1) In 2015 and 2014, 40% of total gross compensation paid to Board members elected on March 27, 2014, has been paid in the company’s

  shares purchased in public trading.

2) Includes compensation for services as the Group’s acting CEO

    2015  2014

Number of options granted (1,000)    2,020  1,125

Of which exercisable (1,000)    860  390

Fair value of options, total (EUR million)    261  129

Total number of shares that can be subscribed for with stock options granted to
management (1,000)    2,020  1,125
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3. Key Figures and Financial Development 2011–2015
Key Financial Indicators

  IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net sales, Group 1)  115,947 98,889 100,788 98,923 77,183

Change 1)  17.2 % -1.9 % 1.9 % 28.2 % 9.1 %

Net sales, continuing operations  115,947 98,889 98,544 94,069 73,273

Change, %  17.2 % 0.4 % 4.8 % 28.4 %

Net sales, discontinued operations  N/A N/A 2,244 4,854 3,910

Operating result, Group  -858 1,173 2,759 4,302 4,902

% of net sales 1)  -0.7 % 1.2 % 2.7 % 4.3 % 6.4 %

Operating result, continuing operations  -858 1,173 2,407 3,419 4,357

% of net sales  -0.7 % 1.2 % 2.4 % 3.6 % 5.9 %

Operating result, discontinued operations  N/A N/A  352 883 545

Result before tax, Group  -1,841 885 2,393 4,106 4,788

% of net sales 1)  -1.6 % 0.9 % 2.4 % 4.2 % 6.2 %

Result before tax, continuing operations  -1,841 885 2,039 3,240 4,243

% of net sales  -1.6 % 0.9 % 2.1 % 3.4 % 5.8 %

Result for the period  -2,012 268 5,563 2,869 3,202

% of net sales 1)  -1.7 % 0.3 % 5.5 % 2.9 % 4.1 %

Return on equity, %  -8.2 % 1.1 % 23.0 % 13.2 % 17.2 %

Return on investment, % 2)  -6.1 % 3.9 % 10.2 % 15.9 % 26.3 %

Equity-ratio, %  52.5 % 60.4 % 62.3 % 56.8 % 61.3 %

Gearing, % 3)  -19.1 % -42.2 % -50.0 % -27.0 % -34.6 %

Balance sheet total  52,040 35,545 40,718 40,522 33,729

Gross capital expenditure   2,096 346 395 1,669 57

% of net sales (Group)  1.8 % 0.3 % 0.4 % 1.7 % 0.1 %

Research and development 4)  117 135 197 114 94

% of net sales (continuing operations)  0.1 % 0.1 % 0.2 % 0.1 % 0.1 %

 Average number of personnel, Group  649 481 481 459 406

Personnel at end of period, Group   714 486 468 488 407

Average number of personnel,  continuing operations 649 481 469 434 382

Personnel at end of period, continuing operations 714 486 468 461 381

1) Comparatives for 2011 changed due to reclassification.

2) In 2012 and 2013, return on investment calculated for continuing operations.

3) In 2012, key indicator calculation does not include cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations.

4) Comparatives for 2011–2013 do not include discontinued operations.
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Key Figures by Share 

  IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
EUR  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Undiluted earnings per share (EUR), Group  -0.024 0.004 0.088 0.046 0.051

Diluted earnings per share (EUR), Group  -0.024 0.004 0.088 0.045 0.051

Undiluted earnings per share (EUR), continuing operations -0.024 0.004 0.019 0.035 0.051

Diluted earnings per share (EUR), continuing operations -0.024 0.004 0.019 0.035 0.051

Undiluted equity per share (EUR)  0.32 0.34 0.40 0.37 0.32

Dividends (EUR thousand) *)  999 5,073 4,409 1,258 629

Dividend per share, EUR  0.010 0.080 0.070 0.020 0.010

Dividend per earnings, %  -42.1 % 1882.9 % 79.3 % 43.8 % 19.6 %

Effective dividend yield, %  2.9 % 22.3 % 14.6 % 3.8 % 2.9 %

P/E ratio (EUR)  -14.31 84.53 5.43 11.62 6.68

Highest share price (EUR)  0.57 0.69 0.59 0.58 0.51

Lowest share price (EUR)  0.33 0.33 0.38 0.32 0.28

Average share price (EUR)  0.47 0.53 0.48 0.43 0.43

Market capitalization (EUR million)  34.0 22.8 30.2 33.3 21.4

Value of traded shares (EUR million)  8.2 10.1 7.7 3.9 4.3

Shares traded, %  20.6 % 30.2 % 25.5 % 14.4 % 16.0 %

Average number of shares::

 Undiluted (1 000)  84,655 63,020 62,911 62,896 62,429

 Diluted (1 000)  84,979 63,459 63,225 63,063 62,860

Number of shares at end of period (1,000)  99,869 63,266 62,916 62,896 62,896

*) Dividend for 2015 in accordance with the Board of Directors’ proposal. Comparative for 2014 includes the dividend distributed for the 

financial year 2014, EUR 0.02 per share, and the extra dividend, EUR 0.06 per share, distributed in connection with the acquisition of NPC.
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Calculation of Key Indicators 

Return on shareholders’ equity (RoE), % *)

Return on investment (RoI), % *)

Equity-ratio, %

Gearing, %

Earnings per share, EUR

Equity per share, EUR

dividend per share, EUR

dividend per earnings, %

Effective dividend yield, %

Price-earnings ratio (P/E), EUR

Result for the period 

Shareholders’ equity (average)

Result before taxes + interest and other financial expenses

Balance sheet total (average) – interest free liabilities (average)

Shareholders’ equity

 

Balance sheet total – advances received

Interest-bearing liabilities – cash and cash equivalents 

Shareholders’ equity

Result for the period

Adjusted number of shares (average)

Shareholders’ equity

Adjusted number of shares at end of period

Dividend payable for the financial year

Adjusted number of shares at end of period

Adjusted dividend per share 

Earnings per share

 

Adjusted dividend per share 

Adjusted share price at end of period

Adjusted share price at end of period

Earnings per share

x 100

x 100

x 100

x 100

x 100

x 100

*)  Divisor calculated as the average of shareholders’ equity in the balance sheet at the end of the current and the directly preceding 

financial year.
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4. Financial Statements of the Parent Company, FAS

EUR thoUSand notE Jan. 1–dEc. 31, 2015 Jan. 1–dEc. 31, 2014

nEt SaLES 2 4,172 4,349

Other operating income 3 5,812 29

Material and services 4 -318 -391

Employee benefit expense 5 -2,692 -2,292

Depreciation and amortization *) 6 -307 -238

Other operating expenses  -1,343 -1,874

oPERatInG RESULt  5,324 -417

Financing income and expenses *) 8 1,278 696

RESULt BEFoRE taXES  6,602 279

Tax    -164 -53

RESULt FoR thE PERIod  6,439 226

*) Comparatives for 2014 updated

Dovre Group Plc’s Income Statement, FAS
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EUR thoUSand notE dEc. 31, 2015 dEc. 31, 2014

aSSEtS

non-cURREnt aSSEtS 

Intangible assets 9 108 676

Tangible assets 10 24 39

Investments

 Investments in subsidiaries 11 27,163 14,758

 Receivables from Group companies 11 92 82

 Investments in associates 11 2,581 2,456

 Receivables from associates 11 0 894

non-cURREnt aSSEtS  29,968 18,905

cURREnt aSSEtS

Non-current assets

 Loan receivables 12 5,902 523

 Deferred tax assets 12 183 183

Current assets 13 1,370 1,715

Cash and cash equivalents  534 802

cURREnt aSSEtS  7,989 3,223

totaL aSSEtS  37,957 22,128

 

EQUItY and LIaBILItIES

ShaREhoLdERS’ EQUItY

Share capital 14 9,603 9,603

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 14 12,219 463

Retained earnings 14 6,208 11,055

Result for the period 14 6,439 226

ShaREhoLdERS’ EQUItY  34,469 21,347

Provisions 15 0 30

LIaBILItIES

Non-current liabilities 16 2,345 87

Current liabilities 17 1,143 664

LIaBILItIES  3,488 751

totaL EQUItY and LIaBILItIES   37,957 22,128

Dovre Group Plc’s Balance Sheet, FAS
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EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Cash flow from operating activities

 Operating profit (+) / loss (–)  5,324 -417

 Depreciation and amortization  307 238

 Gain on disposal of investment  -5,787 0

 Change in provisions on the balance sheet  -9 0

 Changes in working capital  279 -923

 Interest received    28 61

 Interest paid  -7 0

 Other financial items  -11 3

 Income taxes paid  -38 -53

net cash generated by operating activities  86 -1,091

Cash flow from investing activities

 Investments in tangible and intangible assets  -6 -251

 Investments in Group companies  -886 0

 Purchase of shares in associates  -371 -27

 Disposal of shares in associates  12 0

 Dividends received from investments *)  2,650 0

 Increase (–) / decrease (+) in loan receivables   359 485

net cash generated by investing activities  1,758 207

Cash flow from financing activities

 Stock options exercised  44 111

 Proceeds from non-current loans  3,000 87

 Repayments of non-current loans  -150 0

 Dividends paid  -5,073 -4,409

net cash generated by financing activities   -2,179 -4,211

change in cash and cash equivalents  -335 -5,095

Translation differences  67 2

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  802 5,895

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  534 802

*) In 2014, dividends received from investments, EUR 973 thousand, was recorded as loan receivables without cash flow. 

Dovre Group Plc’s Cash Flow Statement, FAS



Financial Statements of the Parent Company, FAS 57

nEt SaLES BY BUSInESS actIvItY
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Consulting  1,134 1,747

Project personnel  590 106

Other functions  2,449 2,496

total   4,172 4,349

GEoGRaPhIcaL dIStRIBUtIon
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Finland   1,097 1,736

Canada   853 967

Norway   1,217 1,473

Other countries  1,005 172

total   4,172 4,349

The financial statements of the parent company Dovre Group Plc 

have been prepared in accordance with Finnish accounting and cor-

porate legislation.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the rate of exchange 

prevailing on the date of transaction. At the end of the financial pe-

riod, foreign currency nominated assets and liabilities are translated 

at the rate of exchange prevailing on the balance sheet date. Foreign 

exchange gains and losses are presented under financing income and 

expense in the income statement.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from services is recognized upon delivery to the client. All 

service related travel expenses that have been invoiced from the cli-

ent are included in revenue from services. Revenue from licenses is 

recognized upon the granting of user rights when all the main risks 

and rewards of license ownership have been transferred to the buyer. 

Revenue from maintenance is allocated to the contract period. Net 

sales includes royalty fee charged from Group companies for intan-

gible marketing property and for using the Dovre Group trademark. 

Royalties are recognized on an accrual basis and in accordance with 

the respective licensing agreement.

Pensions

The parent company’s pension schemes are funded through payments 

to an insurance company. Statutory pension expenses are recognized 

as expense in the year they are incurred.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at acquisition cost less accumulated deprecia-

tion and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are recorded 

on a straight-line basis over the expected economic useful lives of 

the assets as follows:

Notes to Dovre Group Plc’s Financial Statements, FAS

1. accoUntInG PRIncIPLES

2. nEt SaLES

•	 Intangible	assets	(software)		 	 3	years

•	 Intangible	assets	(trademarks)		 	 5	years

•	 Merger	assets			 	 5	years

•	 Other	capitalized	expenditure		 	 3–5	years

•	 Machinery	and	equipment	 	 3–5	years							

trade receivables

Trade receivables are stated at the original invoiced amount to clients 

less doubtful receivables.

derivative instruments

The company hedges receivables and liabilities denominated in for-

eign currency with different currency forward and option contracts. 

Derivatives are recognized in the balance sheet under other receiva-

bles or payables at fair value and on the date of trade. Outstanding 

derivatives are remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet 

date and the resulting gain or loss is immediately recognized in the 

income statement under financial items. In determining the fair value 

of a derivative, the appropriate quoted market price is used, if avail-

able. Alternatively, fair value is determined using commonly used 

valuation methods. The company had no outstanding derivate con-

tracts at the end of 2015

taxes

Income tax is recognized in accordance with Finnish tax legislation. 

Taxes withheld in foreign jurisdictions are recognized as cost in the 

income statement if they cannot be utilized in taxation. Deferred tax 

assets are recognized with utmost prudency.
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EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Gain on disposal of non-current assets, investments  5,787 0

Rents   25 0

Other operating income  0 29

total    5,812 29

Dovre Club Ltd. was incorporated in 2015. Dovre Group Plc recorded a gain on disposal totaling EUR 5.8 million for the transaction.

EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

License fees  -98 -163

External services  -220 -228

total   -318 -391

EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Salaries and fees  -2,338 -1,932

Pension expenses  -285 -287

Other employee benefits  -69 -73

total   -2,692 -2,292

Pension liabilities for the members of the Board and the cEo

The contracts do not contain any special provisions concerning retirement age or pension. In 2015, a total of EUR 47,413 of the CEO’s statutory 

pension expenses was charged to the income statement (EUR 28,277 in 2014).

ManaGEMEnt REMUnERatIon
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

CEO   -254,077 -168,735

Members of the Board of Directors   -104,000 -104,000

total   -358,077 -272,735

nUMBER oF EMPLoYEES  2015 2014

Average  26 22

At the end of the financial year  24 24

3. othER oPERatInG IncoME

6. dEPREcIatIon and aMoRtIZatIon

4. MatERIaL and SERvIcES

5. EMPLoYEE BEnEFItS EXPEnSE

EUR thoUSand  2015 2014 

Amortization according to plan, intangible assets  -292 -222

Depreciation according to plan, tangible assets  -14 -16

total   -307 -238

*) Comparatives for 2014 changed. Impairment of investments is included in financing expenses (see Note 8).

 *)
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EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

External audit  -90 -82

Other services referred to in the Finnish Auditing Act  -8 -3

Tax consultancy  -3 0

Other professional services  -12 -91

total   -113 -176

dIvIdEnd IncoME
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Dividend income from Group companies  2,776 973

total   2,776 973

othER IntERESt and FInancInG IncoME
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Interest income from Group companies  28 47

Interest income from associates  26 52

Interest income from others  0 11

Other financing income from others  357 202

total   412 312

IntERESt and FInancInG EXPEnSES
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Interest expenses to Group companies  -1 0

Interest expenses, interest-bearing liabilities  -7 0

Other interest and financing expenses  -174 -16

total   -182 -16

Financing income and expenses, total  1,278 696

Foreign exchange gains included in financing income  358 172

Foreign exchange losses included in financing income  -168 -15

7. aUdItoR FEES

8. FInancInG IncoME and EXPEnSES

IMPaIRMEnt LoSSES
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Impairment, investments in Group companies  -138 -256

Impairment, receivables from Group companies  0 -317

Impairment, investments in associates  -1,590 0

total   -1,728 -573

*) Comparatives for 2014 changed for impairment, investments in Group companies (see Note 6).

 *)
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IntanGIBLE RIGhtS and othER caPItaLIZEd EXPEndItURE
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1  702 456

Additions  0 246

Disposals  -602 0

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31  101 702

 

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Jan. 1  -213 -71

Accumulated amortization from disposals  326 0

Amortization charges for the year  -212 -142

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Dec. 31  -99 -213

Book value, dec. 31  2 489

Disposals in 2015 relate to a business transfer completed in Q4/2015, as a result of which the company recorded a gain on disposal, EUR 5.8 

million (see Note 3). 

A total of EUR 65 thousand recorded in prepayments in 2014 was transferred to other capitalized expenditure in 2015.  

MachInERY and EQUIPMEnt
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1  134 131

Additions  0 10

Disposals  0 -7

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31  134 134

Accumulated depreciation and value adjustments, Jan. 1  -95 -86

Accumulated depreciation from disposals  0 7

Depreciation charges for the year  -14 -16

Accumulated depreciation and value adjustments, Dec. 31  -109 -95

Book value, dec. 31  24 39

MERGER aSSEtS
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1  401 401

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31  401 401

 

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Jan. 1  -214 -134

Amortization charges for the year  -80 -80

Accumulated amortization and value adjustments, Dec. 31  -294 -214

Book value, dec. 31  107 187

9. IntanGIBLE aSSEtS

10. tanGIBLE aSSEtS



Financial Statements of the Parent Company, FAS 61

InvEStMEntS In GRoUP coMPanIES
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1  16,010 15,956

Additions  12,948 54

Disposals  -404 0

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31  28,553 16,010

Accumulated value adjustments, Jan. 1  -1,252 -996

Accumulated impairment on disposals  -138 -256

Accumulated impairment and value adjustments, Dec. 31  -1,390 -1,252

Book value, dec. 31  27,163 14,758

Of the additions in 2015, EUR 12.5 million relates to the acquisition of NPC Group AS, completed in May 2015 (see Group Financial Statements 

Note 4). As part of the acquisition, NPC Group AS and its subsidiaries in Norway, Singapore, the UK, and the USA were transferred to the 

Group. In Q4/2015, the Group’s company structure was streamlined. The Group’s subsidiary Dovre Services AS and NPC Group AS’s subsidiary 

NPC AS were merged with NPC Group AS, and NPC Group AS’s company name was changed to Dovre Group Projects AS. 

REcEIvaBLES FRoM GRoUP coMPanIES
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1  82 72

Additions  0 0

Translation differences  10 10

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31  92 82

Book value, dec. 31  92 82

InvEStMEntS In aSSocIatES
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1  2,456 2,429

Additions  2,078 27

Disposals  -364 0

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31  4,171 2,456

Impairment  -1,590 0

Accumulated impairment and value adjustments, Dec. 31  -1,590 0

 

Book value, dec. 31  2,581 2,456

11. InvEStMEntS
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REcEIvaBLES FRoM aSSocIatES
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Acquisition cost, Jan. 1  894 0

Additions  324 807

Capitalized interest receivables  62 15

Converted into shares  -1,355 0

Translation differences  75 72

Acquisition cost, Dec. 31  0 894

Book value, dec. 31  0 894

   
   PaREnt coMPanY
InvEStMEntS In SUBSIdIaRIES on dEc. 31, 2015 doMIcILE coUntRY  ownERShIP %

Dovre Asia Pte Ltd. Singapore Singapore 100.00

Dovre Australia Pty Ltd. Sydney Australia 100.00

Dovre Canada Ltd. St. John's Canada 100.00

Dovre Club Oy Helsinki Finland 100.00

Dovre Group AB Stockholm Sweden 100.00

Dovre Group Consulting AS *) Stavanger Norway 100.00

Dovre Group Inc.  Houston USA 100.00

Dovre Group LLC Južno-Sahalinsk Russia 100.00

Dovre Group Projects AS Stavanger Norway 100.00

Dovre UK Ltd. London UK 100.00

Norwegian Petroleum Consultants Limited London UK 100.00

Norwegian Petroleum Consultants Pte Ltd. Singapore Singapore 100.00

Project Completion Management Ltd. Hampshire UK 48.00

 *) Company name changed at year change 2015/2016. Previous name Dovre Group AS.

   
   PaREnt coMPanY
InvEStMEntS In aSSocIatES on dEc. 31, 2015 doMIcILE coUntRY  ownERShIP %

Kiinteistö Oy Kuukoti Espoo Finland 43.12

SaraRasa Bioindo Pte Ltd. Singapore Singapore 29.00

EUR thoUSand  dEc. 31, 2015 dEc. 31, 2014

Loan receivables

 Non-current loan receivables from Group companies  5,860 483

 Non-current loan receivables from others  43 40

total   5,902 523

Deferred tax assets  183 183

non-current receivables, total  6,085 706

In 2015, the company had a total of EUR 0.5 million (EUR 1.7 million in 2014) unrecognized deferred tax assets for previous years’ losses. The 

company used a portion of the losses in 2015 and also recognized a deferred tax asset totaling EUR 183 thousand.

12. non-cURREnt REcEIvaBLES
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EUR thoUSand  dEc. 31, 2015 dEc. 31, 2014

current receivables from Group companies

Trade receivables   490 475

Loan receivables   507 456

Deferred assets, interest receivable  3 2

    1,000 933

current receivables from joint ventures

Trade receivables   3 23

Deferred assets, interest receivable  0 36

    3 59

current receivables from others

Trade receivables  158 513

Other receivables  19 32

Deferred assets  190 178

    367 723

current receivables, total  1,370 1,715

ShaRE caPItaL
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Share capital, Jan. 1  9,603 9,603

Share capital, Dec. 31  9,603 9,603

RESERvE FoR InvEStEd non-REStRIctEd EQUItY
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity, Jan. 1  463 352

Direct issue, property given as subscription in kind  11,712 0

Stock options exercised  44 111

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity, Dec. 31  12,219 463

Direct issue relates to the acquisition of NPC Group AS, completed in May 2015 (see Group Financial Statements Note 4).

dEFERREd aSSEtS FRoM othERS
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Currency derivatives  0 32

Sales accruals  27 0

Pension and other insurance contributions  0 94

Accrued expenses  163 52

total   190 178

13. cURREnt REcEIvaBLES

14. ShaREhoLdERS’ EQUItY

Restricted equity

non-restricted equity
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REtaInEd EaRnInGS
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Retained earnings, Jan. 1  11,281 15,465

Dividend distribution  -5,073 -4,409

Result for the period  6,439 226

Retained earnings, Dec. 31  12,646 11,281

caLcULatIon oF dIStRIBUtaBLE EaRnInGS
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Retained earnings  6,208 11,055

Reserve for invested non-restricted equity  12,219 463

Result for the period  6,439 226

total   24,866 11,744

chanGES In PRovISIonS, 2015   REvERSaL oF PRovISIonS othER
EUR thoUSand Jan. 1, 2015  IncREaSE PRovISIonS USEd chanGES *) dEc. 31, 2015

Litigation provisions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other provisions 30 2 0 -11 -21 0

total  30 2 0 -11 -21 0

*) The provision has been transferred to Dovre Club Ltd. as part of the business transfer (see Note 3).

EUR thoUSand  dEc. 31, 2015 dEc. 31, 2014

Non-current loans from financial institutions  2,250 0

Non-current liabilities to Group companies  95 87

total   2,345 87

EUR thoUSand  dEc. 31, 2015 dEc. 31, 2014

current liabilities to Group companies

 Trade payables  51 0

 Other liabilities  0 54

    51 54

Liabilities to others

 Current loans from financial institutions  600 0

 Trade payables  122 169

 Other liabilities  54 64

 Accruals and deferred income  316 377

    1,092 610

current liabilities , total  1,143 664

chanGES In PRovISIonS, 2014   REvERSaL oF PRovISIonS 
EUR thoUSand Jan. 1, 2014  IncREaSE PRovISIonS USEd  dEc. 31, 2014

Litigation provisions 20 0 -4 -16  0

Other provisions 8 22 0 0  30

total  28 22 -4 -16  30

15. PRovISIonS

16. non-cURREnt LIaBILItIES

17. cURREnt LIaBILItIES
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accRUaLS and dEFERREd IncoME
EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Accrued employee expenses  208 249

Deferred income  18 9

Other accrued expenses  90 119

total   316 377

18. coMMItMEntS and contInGEnt LIaBILItIES

EUR thoUSand  dEc. 31, 2015 dEc. 31, 2014

collateral for own commitments

chattel mortgages and other pledges given as collateral for liabilities and commitments

 Loans from financial institutions  2,850 0

 Floating charges  3,000 0

collateral for own commitments, other

 Pledged shares  921 933

Guarantees given for others

 Loan guarantee  1,378 1,235

 Other guarantees  1,562 1,659

total   2,940 2,894

 

EUR thoUSand  dEc. 31, 2015 dEc. 31, 2014

Lines of credit

  Lines of credit granted, total  580 580

EUR thoUSand  2015 2014

Not later than one year  30 43

Later than one year and not later than five years  19 46

total   49 89

collateral

contingent liabililties and other commitments

Pension liabilities

The company’s pension liabilities have been insured with an outside pension insurance company.

disputes and court proceedings

The Group has no pending disputes or court proceedings.

Future minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating leases
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5.1 ShaRES and ShaRE caPItaL

Dovre Group Plc has one class of shares. Each share entitles the 

shareholder to one vote. Dovre Group Plc’s shares are listed in Nas-

daq Helsinki Ltd.

On January 1, 2015 and December 31, 2015, Dovre Group Plc’s share 

capital was EUR 9,603,084.48. On January 1, 2015, the total number 

of shares was 63,265,751 and 99,868,769 on December 31, 2015.

Increase in the number of shares during the financial year, 

36,453,018 in total, was due to the issuance of new shares as direct 

issue in connection with the merger with NPC, completed on May 

28, 2015, to the Norwegian companies Commuter AS and Global 

Group AS, the sellers of NPC. The new shares have been entered in 

the Finnish trade register on June 4, 2015. The increase has been 

recorded in the company’s reserve for non-restricted equity and the 

fair value reserve. The new shares issued as part of the transaction 

(Consideration Shares) were not subject to public trading at the end 

of the financial year. The Consideration Shares will be listed during 

Q1/2016. Dovre Group will publish a prospectus required for listing the 

Consideration Shares in connection with their listing. In addition, a to-

tal of 150,000 new shares were subscribed for with Dovre Group Plc’s 

stock options during the financial year. The new shares subscribed 

have been entered in the Finnish trade register on March 2, 2015.

5.2 tRadInG and MaRkEt caPItaLIZatIon

In January–December, 2015, approximately 17.6 (19.2) million shares 

in Dovre Group Plc were traded on the Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd, cor-

responding to an exchange of approximately EUR 8.2 (10.1) million.

During the financial year, the lowest quotation was EUR 0.33 (0.33) 

and the highest EUR 0.57 (0.69). On December 31, 2015, the closing 

quotation was EUR 0.34 (0.36).

The period-end market capitalization was approximately EUR 34.0 

(22.8) million.

On December 31, 2015, the number of registered shareholders 

of Dovre Group Plc totaled 3,559 (3,515) including 8 (9) nominee 

registers. 0.2 (0.9) % of the Group’s shares were nominee-registered.

5.3 aUthoRIZatIonS oF thE BoaRd oF dIREctoRS

The Annual General Meeting held on March 25, 2015 authorized the 

Board of Directors to decide on the repurchase of the Company’s own 

shares on the following conditions: the Board is entitled to decide 

on repurchase of a maximum of 6,200,000 of the Company’s own 

shares, which shall be repurchased in deviation from the proportion 

to the holdings of the shareholders using the non-restricted equity 

and acquired through trading at the regulated market organized 

by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd at the share price prevailing at the time of 

acquisition. This number of shares corresponds to approximately a 

maximum of 9.8% of the total number of shares in the Company. 

The shares may be repurchased in order to be used as consideration 

in possible acquisitions or other arrangements related to the Com-

pany’s business, to finance investments or as part of the Company’s 

incentive program or to be held, otherwise conveyed or cancelled by 

the Company. The Board of Directors shall decide on other matters 

5. Shares and Shareholders
related to the repurchase of the Company's own shares. This repur-

chase authorization is valid until June 30, 2016 and revokes earlier 

repurchase authorizations.

In addition, the Annual General Meeting authorized the Board of 

Directors to decide on the issuance of new shares and/or the con-

veyance of own shares held by the Company and/or the granting 

of special rights referred to in Chapter 10, Section 1 of the Finnish 

Companies Act on the following conditions:

By virtue of the authorization, the Board may also decide on a 

directed issue of shares and special rights, i.e. waiving the pre-emptive 

subscription rights of the shareholders, under the requirements of 

the law. By virtue of the authorization, a maximum of 12,400,000 

shares may be issued, corresponding to approximately 19.6% of the 

Company’s existing shares.

The Board may use the authorization in one or more instalments. 

The Board may use the authorization to finance or conclude acquisi-

tions or other arrangements, to strengthen the Company’s capital 

structure, to incentive programs or other purposes decided by the 

Board. The new shares may be issued or the Company’s own shares 

conveyed either against payment or free of charge. The new shares 

may also be issued as an issue without payment to the Company itself. 

The Board was authorized to decide on other terms of the issuance of 

shares and special rights. By virtue of the authorization, the Board of 

Directors may decide on the realization of the Company’s own shares 

possibly held by the Company as pledge.

The authorization is valid until June 30, 2016. The authorization 

revokes earlier authorizations to issue shares and grant option rights 

and other special rights entitling to shares.

The Board did not exercise the authorizations granted by the An-

nual General Meeting held on March 25, 2015 during the financial year.

5.4 oPtIon RIGhtS

Dovre Group has two option plans, 2010 and 2013. Each stock option 

entitles the holder to subscribe one share in Dovre Group Plc.

The share subscription period and price per series under the 2010 

stock option plan are as follows: 

•	 2010B:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.36;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2013–February 28, 2016. 

•	 2010C:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.27;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2014–February 28, 2017.  

The subscription period of the company’s 2010A option series ended 

on February 28, 2015. A total of 315,000 shares were subscribed for 

under the series, a total of 120,000 of which were subscribed for in 

2015. The increase in the company’s number of shares was entered in 

the Finnish trade register on March 2, 2015. The remaining 240,000 

stock options expired as unused.

A total of 30,000 shares were subscribed for under Dovre Group 

Plc’s 2010C option series in 2015. The increase in the company’s 

number of shares was entered in the Finnish trade register on March 

2, 2015.

At the end of the financial year, a total of 965,000 stock options 

were outstanding under the 2010 option plan.

The share subscription period and price per series under the 2013 

option plan are as follows:
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•	 2013A:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.39;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2015–February 29, 2018.

•	 2013B:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.52;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2016–February 28, 2019.

•	 	2013C:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.45;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2017–February 28, 2020.

During the financial year, a total of 525,000 stock options under the 

2013A series, a total of 25,000 stock options under the 2013B series, 

and a total of 1,000,000 stock options under the 2013C series were 

Option rights issued under the 2013 option plan are as follows:

granted to key personnel. A total of 100,000 stock options under 

the 2013A series, a total of 150,000 stock options under the 2013B 

series, and a total of 50,000 stock options under the 2013C series 

were returned to the company.

At the end of the financial year, the company had granted a total 

of 2,685,000 stock options under the 2013 option plan and had in 

reserve a total of 315,000 stock options.

Option rights issued under the 2010 option plan are as follows:

 
SUBScRIPtIon PERIod SUBScRIPtIon PRIcE nUMBER oF nUMBER oF 
2010 EUR oPtIonS ShaRES

A March 1, 2012–February 28, 2015 0.28 900,000 900,000

B March 1, 2013–February 28, 2016 0.36 775,000 775,000

C March 1, 2014–February 28, 2017 0.27 775,000 775,000

total   2,450,000 2,450,000

Cancelled  965,000 965,000

Share subscriptions  520,000 520,000

Remaining on December 31, 2015  965,000 965,000

Of which in reserve  0 0 

 
SUBScRIPtIon PERIod SUBScRIPtIon PRIcE nUMBER oF nUMBER oF 
2013 EUR oPtIonS ShaRES

A March 1, 2015–February 29, 2018 0.39 1,000,000 1,000,000

B March 1, 2016–February 28, 2019  0.52 1,000,000 1,000,000

C March 1, 2017–February 28, 2020  0.45 1,000,000 1,000,000

total   3,000,000 3,000,000

Cancelled  0 0

Share subscriptions  0 0

Remaining on December 31, 2015  3,000,000 3,000,000

Of which in reserve  315,000 315,000
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5.5 LaRGESt ShaREhoLdERS on dEcEMBER 31, 2015

   % oF ShaRES
ShaREhoLdER  nUMBER oF ShaRES and votES

1 Commuter AS 1)  18,226,509 18.3 %

 Global Group AS 2)  18,226,509 18.3 %

3 Etola Erkki  16,900,000 16.9 %

 Etra Capital Oy 3)  15,000,000 15.0 %

 Etola Erkki   1,900,000 1.9 %

4 Koskelo Ilari  4,542,285 4.5 %

 Koskelo Ilari  3,242,285 3.2 %

 Navdata Oy 4)  1,300,000 1.3 %

5 Mäkelä Pekka  1,775,713 1.8 %

6 Siik Rauni  1,648,914 1.7 %

7 Sijoitusrahasto Evli Suomi Pienyhtiöt  1,598,320 1.6 %

8 Siik Seppo Sakari  1,420,848 1.4 %

9 Kefura Ab  1,100,000 1.1 %

 Oy Cen-Invest Ab  1,100,000 1.1 %

11 Nordea Henkivakuutus Suomi Oy  1,072,822 1.1 %

12 Hinkka Petri  1,000,000 1.0 %

13 Paasi Kari  990,000 1.0 %

14 Keep it simple KIS Oy Ab  820,000 0.8 %

15 Ruokostenpohja Ismo  647,967 0.6 %

16 Hinkka Invest Oy  583,390 0.6 %

17 Toivanen Kari  520,000 0.5 %

18 Viherto Tero  428,449 0.4 %

 Schengen Investment Oy 5)  364,790 0.4 %

 Viherto Tero  63,659 0.1 %

19 Sandström Yngve  400,000 0.4 %

20 Suomela Kalervo  345,000 0.3 %

20 largest shareholders (total)  73,346,726 73.4 %

Nominee registered shares (total)  234,571 0.2 %

Total remaining  26,287,472 26.3 %

total   99,868,769 100.0 %

1) Frank Ween, who is a member of Dovre Group’s Group Executive Team, holds control in Commuter AS.

2) Ole Olsen, who is a member of Dovre Group’s Group Executive Team, holds control in Global Group AS.

3) Erkki Etola holds control in Etra Capital Oy.

4) Ilari Koskelo, who is a member of Dovre Group’s Board of Directors, holds control in Navdata Oy.

5) Tero Viherto, who is a member of Dovre Group’s Board of Directors, holds control in Schengen Investment Oy.
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5.6 anaLYSIS oF ShaREhoLdInGS on dEcEMBER 31, 2015

By shareholder category

5.7 hoLdInGS oF thE BoaRd oF dIREctoRS and EXEcUtIvE ManaGEMEnt

On December 31, 2015, the members of the Board of Directors held a total of 3,395,968 shares, representing approximately 4.3% of all shares 

and votes. Taking into account ownership through controlled companies, the members of the Board of Directors held a total of 5,060,758 

shares, representing approximately 5.1% of all shares and votes. Members of the Board did not hold any option rights on December 31, 2015.

On December 31, 2015, the CEO of Dovre Group Plc held a total of 130,000 shares, representing approximately 0.1% of all shares and votes.

     - 
   nUMBER oF % oF totaL  totaL nUMBER % oF aLL 
nUMBER oF ShaRES   ShaREhoLdERS ShaREhoLdERS oF ShaRES ShaRES

1–100    243 6.8 15,393 0.0

101–500    669 18.8 238,453 0.2

501–1,000   547 15.4 494,264 0.5

1,001–5,000   1,234 34.7 3,332,399 3.3

5,001–10,000   386 10.8 3,084,196 3.1

10,001–50,000   363 10.2 8,288,343 8.3

50,001–100,000   49 1.4 3,714,450 3.7

100,001–500,000   48 1.3 8,527,994 8.5

500,001–   19 0.5 72,173,277 72.3

total    3,558 100.0 99,868,769 100.0

      
   nUMBER oF % oF totaL totaL nUMBER % oF aLL
nUMBER oF ShaRES   ShaREhoLdERS ShaREhoLdERS oF ShaRES ShaRES

Private companies   142 4.0 23,347,442 23.4

Financial and insurance institutions   13 0.4 3,043,442 3.1

Public bodies   2 0.1 40,800 0.0

Non-profit organizations   9 0.3 30,670 0.0

Households   3,355 94.3 35,620,521 35.8

Foreign shareholders   37 1.0 37,551,323 37.7

total    3,558 100.0 99,634,198 100.0

Nominee registered   8  234,571 0.2

    
   nUMBER oF
naME nUMBER oF ShaRES % oF ShaRES Stock oPtIonS 1)

Rainer Häggblom 55,279 0.1 % 0

Tero Viherto 2) 428,449 0.4 % 0

Ilari Koskelo 3) 4,542,285 4.5 % 0

Arja Koski 34,745 0.0 % 0

Board total 5,060,758 5.1 % 0

Patrick von Essen (CEO) 130,000 0.1 % 675,000

1) Each stock option entitles the holder to subscribe for one new share. The subscription price varies between EUR 0.36 and 

 EUR 0.52 per share.

2) Tero Viherto holds control in Schengen Investment Oy, which holds a total of 364,790 shares.

3) Ilari Koskelo holds control in Navdata Oy, which holds a total of 1,300,000 shares.

By number of shares owned
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6. Signatures for the Financial Statements and
the Report of the Board of Directors

Espoo, Finland, February 17, 2016

auditor's statement

Rainer Häggblom

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Ilari Koskelo

Member of the Board of Directors

Patrick von Essen

CEO

Based on an audit, an opinion is expressed on these financial statements and on corporate 
governance on this date.

 

Espoo, February 17, 2016

Ernst & Young Oy

Authorized Public Accountants

Mikko Järventausta

Authorized Public Accountant

Tero Viherto

Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

Arja Koski

Member of the Board of Directors
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7. Auditor’s Report 
to the annual General Meeting of dovre Group Plc 

We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 

the report of the Board of Directors, and the administration of Dovre 

Group Plc for the year ended 31 December, 2015. The financial state-

ments comprise the consolidated statement of financial position, 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 

and statement of cash flows, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income 

statement, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of directors and 

the Managing director 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation 

of financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations 

governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report 

of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board of Directors is respon-

sible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the company’s 

accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that 

the accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that 

its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner. 

auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements, 

on the consolidated financial statements and on the report of the 

Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires 

that we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in 

Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements and the report of the Board of Directors are free from 

material misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of 

Directors of the parent company or the Managing Director are guilty 

of an act or negligence which may result in liability in damages to-

wards the company or have violated the Limited Liability Companies 

Act or the articles of association of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and 

the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures selected depend 

on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 

the entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of the 

Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements and the report 

of the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion on the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash 

flows of the group in accordance with International Financial Report-

ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 

opinion on the company’s financial statements and 
the report of the Board of directors  

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board 

of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and 

the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in 

accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation 

of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors 

in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 

consistent with the information in the financial statements.

Espoo, 17 February 2016

Ernst & Young Oy

Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Mikko Järventausta

Authorized Public Accountant



Corporate Governance Statement 2015 73

Corporate 
Governance 

Statement 2015



Corporate Governance Statement 201574

8. Corporate Governance Statement 2015
This Corporate Governance Statement has been composed in ac-

cordance with the reporting requirements of the Finnish Corporate 

Governance Code issued by the Finnish Securities Market Association, 

and Chapter 7, Section 7 of the Finnish Securities Markets Act. The 

Finnish Corporate Governance Code can be found on the Association’s 

website, www.cgfinland.fi. This Corporate Governance Statement is 

issued separately from the report by the company’s Board of Direc-

tors. The Statement has been reviewed by Dovre Group Plc’s Board 

of Directors.

GENERAL PRINCIPLES

Dovre Group’s parent company, Dovre Group Plc, is a public limited 

company registered in Finland and domiciled in Helsinki, Finland. In 

its decision-making and governance, Dovre Group complies with all 

applicable legislation, the company’s Articles of Association, and the 

Finnish Corporate Governance Code issued by the Finnish Securities 

Market Association. In addition, the company complies with the rules 

and regulations of Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd and the standards, regulations, 

and guidelines of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority. Dovre 

Group’s subsidiaries comply with local legislation.

Up-to-date information about the company’s corporate govern-

ance is available on the company’s website, www.dovregroup.com/

investors/corporate-governance.html.

Dovre Group’s governing bodies

The General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors, and the 

CEO are responsible for the Group’s management. Their tasks and 

responsibilities are determined in accordance with the Finnish Limited 

Liability Companies Act. The CEO, assisted by the Group Executive 

Team, is responsible for the Group’s operational management.

General Meeting of Shareholders

Dovre Group’s supreme decision-making body is the General Meet-

ing of Shareholders. The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is 

organized once a year on a date set by the Board of Directors and 

is held within six (6) months of the end of the financial period. The 

Board of Directors may convene one or more Extraordinary General 

Meetings during the financial year if necessary. In accordance with 

the Articles of Association, the General Meeting is to be held in Es-

poo, Helsinki, or Vantaa. Notice of the Annual General Meeting and 

a proposal for the agenda are released as a stock exchange bulletins 

and published on the company’s website.

The Annual General Meeting decides on the following issues:

•	 Adoption	of	the	income	statement	and	balance	sheet

•	 Use	of	the	profit	or	loss	shown	on	the	balance	sheet

•	 Discharging	from	liability	the	members	of	the	Board	and	the	CEO

•	 Number	of	Board	members	and	their	election

•	 Election	of	the	Auditor

•	 Remuneration	of	the	Board	and	compensation	of	the	Auditor

•	 Other	issues	as	outlined	in	the	notice	of	the	meeting

Board of Directors

Dovre Group’s Board of Directors is responsible for the administra-

tion and the proper organization of the company’s operations. The 

Board supervises the company’s operations and management, and 

decides on significant matters concerning the company’s strategy, 

organization, financing, and investments. The duties and responsibili-

ties of the Board are determined in accordance with the company’s 

Articles of Association and the Finnish Limited Liability Companies 

Act. The Board has not established an audit committee; the duties of 

the audit committee are discharged by the Board in its entirety. The 

Board prepares an annual charter that specifies the Board’s meeting 

procedures and duties. In accordance with the Board charter, the 

duties of the Board include following:

•	 Assuming	responsibility	for	tasks	specified	as	obligatory	for	the	

Board of Directors by the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, 

the company’s Articles of Association, or elsewhere

•	 Approving	the	Group’s	strategy	and	long-term	financial	targets

•	 Approving	the	Group’s	Code	of	Conduct

•	 Approving	the	Group’s	management	system	and	organizational	

structure

•	 Approving	annual	business	plans	and	changes	to	them,	if	any

•	 Approving	internal	control	and	risk	management	policies	and	moni-

tor them

•	 Approving	the	Group’s	financial	reports,	including	the	company’s	

half-yearly report, annual financial statements, report by the Board 

of Directors, and Q1 and Q3 trading statements

•	 Assuming	responsibility	for	communications	related	to	the	Group’s	

financial objectives

•	 Approving	the	Group’s	financial	policy

•	 Assuming	responsibility	for	the	development	of	the	Group’s	market	

value and specifying dividend policy

•	 Approving	business	acquisitions	and	divestments	and	significant	

individual investments and contingent liabilities

•	 Approving	the	Group’s	incentive	system	and	policy

•	 Appointing	and	dismissing	the	Group’s	top	management	(CEO	

and members of the Group Executive Team) and deciding on their 

terms of employment and remuneration

•	 Appointing	a	deputy	to	the	CEO

•	 Overseeing	the	succession	planning	of	the	CEO

•	 Deciding	on	the	establishment	of	new	legal	entities

•	 Assuming	responsibility	for	the	development	of	the	Group’s	cor-

porate governance

•	 Approving	the	agenda	for	Board	meetings

•	 Reviewing	the	operations	of	the	Board	annually

•	 Reviewing	the	CEO’s	performance	and	giving	feedback

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Board has a mini-

mum of three (3) and a maximum of eight (8) members. The Board 

members are elected by the Annual General Meeting for one term 

of office at a time. The term of office of a member of the Board 

begins at the end of the General Meeting that elected the member 

and expires at the end of the first Annual General Meeting following 

the election. The company’s Articles of Association do not specify 

an upper age limit for, or the maximum number of terms of office, 

of a Board member, and place no other restrictions on the authority 

of the General Meeting to elect members to the Board. The Board 

selects a Chairman and a Vice Chairman from among its members, 

and the Board is deemed to have a quorum present when more than 

half of its members are present.
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In addition to matters requiring Board decision, the Board, in its 

meetings, is provided with up-to-date information on the Group’s 

operations, financial situation, and risks.

The Board convenes normally once a month according to an 

preagreed schedule, and may hold additional meetings, if necessary. 

Minutes are kept for all meetings. 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

The Board of Directors appoints the CEO. The CEO is responsible for 

the day-to-day management of the Group’s business operations and 

governance in accordance with the Articles of Association, the Finnish 

Limited Liability Companies Act, and the instructions issued by the 

Board. The CEO is assisted by the Group Executive Team.

Group Executive Team

The Group Executive Team is appointed by the Board of Directors. The 

Group Executive Team assists the CEO in the operative management 

of the Group, prepares items for the Board and the CEO, and plans 

and monitors the operations of the Group’s business units. The Group 

Executive Team convenes at least once a month. The CEO acts as the 

Chairman of the Group Executive Team.

Internal audit

The Group’s internal audit assesses and ensures the sufficiency and 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. It also assesses the 

efficiency of the Group’s various business processes, the sufficiency 

of the Group’s risk management procedures, and compliance with 

internal guidelines. The Board of Directors is responsible for internal 

audit. The Group’s internal audit is coordinated by the Group’s CFO.

External audit

According to the Articles of Association, Dovre Group shall have a 

minimum of one (1) and a maximum of two (2) auditors certified by 

the Finnish Central Chamber of Commerce (Authorized Public Ac-

countants). Should the General Meeting appoint only one principal 

auditor and should this auditor not be an audit corporation, or should 

the General Meeting deem it otherwise necessary, the General Meet-

ing may choose to appoint a minimum of one (1) and a maximum of 

two (2) deputy auditors. The term of the auditors expires at the end 

of the first Annual General Meeting following their selection. The 

Board’s proposal for the auditor is disclosed in the notice of the 

General Meeting.

The primary purpose of an audit is to verify that the financial 

statements give accurate and adequate information concerning the 

Group’s result and financial position for the financial period. In addi-

tion, the auditors shall report to the Board of Directors on the ongoing 

auditing of administration and operations.

Internal control and risk management systems pertaining to 
financial reporting

The purpose of the Group’s internal control is to support the im-

plementation of the Group’s strategy and to ensure that the Group 

complies with all relevant rules and regulations. The Group’s inter-

nal control framework is based on the Dovre Group Authorization 

Matrix, which specifies the authority and the responsibilities of the 

Group’s management. The Authorization Matrix is approved by the 

Board of Directors, which also acts as the highest supervisory body 

of the Group’s internal control. The implementation of internal control 

measures is supervised primarily by the CEO and CFO, who report 

to the Board.

The ultimate responsibility for accounting and financial admin-

istration lies with Dovre Group’s Board of Directors. The Board is 

responsible for internal control, and the CEO is responsible for the 

day-to-day organization and monitoring of the control system. The 

steering and monitoring of business operations is based on the re-

porting and business planning system that covers the entire Group. 

The CEO and CFO report monthly to the Board and the Group Execu-

tive Team on the Group’s financial situation and development.

The purpose of financial reporting is to ensure that all assets and 

liabilities in the financial statements belong to the company; that all 

rights and liabilities of the company are presented in the financial 

statements; that items in the financial statements have been classi-

fied, disclosed, and described correctly; that assets, liabilities, income, 

and expenditure are entered in the financial statements at the cor-

rect amounts; that all transactions during the reporting period are 

included in the accounts; that transactions entered in the accounts 

are factual transactions; and that assets have been secured.

Risk management and risk assessment

The Group’s risk management is guided by legal requirements, busi-

ness requirements set by shareholders of the company, and the 

expectations of customers, personnel, and other important stake-

holders. The goal of risk management is to acknowledge and identify 

systematically and comprehensibly any risks relating to the compa-

ny’s operations and to make sure that all such risks are appropriately 

accounted for when making business decisions.

The Group’s risk management procedures support the achievement 

of the Group’s strategic goals and seeks to ensure the continuity of 

the Group’s business operations. The Group takes risks that are a 

natural part of its strategy and objectives. The Group is not ready to 

take risks that might endanger the continuity of its operations or be 

uncontrollable or that may significantly harm the Group’s operations.

In accordance with the Group’s risk management procedures, the 

Board of Directors receives an annual report of the most significant 

risks facing the Group. The Board analyses the risks from the point 

of view of shareholder value.

The company’s risk management process includes an annual iden-

tification and analysis of risks pertaining to financial reporting. In 

addition, the company seeks to analyze and report all new risks imme-

diately as soon as they have been identified. Taking into account the 

extent of the Group’s business operations, the most significant risks 

pertaining to the reliability of financial reporting relate to revenue rec-

ognition, impairment testing (including goodwill), and tax reporting.

Control functions

The correctness and reliability of financial reporting are ensured 

through compliance with Group policies and guidelines. Control 

functions that ensure the correctness of financial reporting include 

controls related to accounting transactions, to the selection of and 

compliance with the Group’s accounting principles, to information 

systems, and to fraud or malpractice.

Revenue	recognition	is	supervised	by	the	Group’s	CFO	and	is	based	

on the required sale and delivery documents.

The Group’s bad debt provision is reviewed monthly. Any eventual 

bad debt provisions are based on the aging of trade receivables per 

sales company.
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The Group’s goodwill is tested for impairment at the end of each 

financial year on the balance sheet date. Key variables used in the 

calculations are net sales growth and the estimated change of profit 

margin. In addition, indications of impairment are monitored regu-

larly. If indications of impairment are detected, a separate testing is 

performed. In calculating the company-specific deferred tax assets, 

the effective tax rate of each country is applied. Deferred tax assets 

have not been recognized for the Group’s losses as it has been esti-

mated that a future use of the losses is not probable in near future.

The performance of business operations and the attainment of 

annual goals is assessed monthly in Group Executive Team and Board 

meetings. Monthly management and Board reporting includes both 

the actual and the estimated results compared to the budget and 

the actual results of previous periods. Financial reports generated 

for the management are used for monitoring certain key indicators 

associated with the development of sales, profitability, and trade 

receivables on a monthly basis.

In accordance with its strategy, Dovre Group may complement its 

organic growth with acquisitions. In making acquisitions, the Group 

follows due diligence and utilizes its internal competence together 

with external advisors in the planning phase (e.g. due diligence), 

takeover phase, and when integrating acquired functions into the 

Group's operations.

Internal communication and sharing of information

The purpose of management reporting is to produce up-to-date, rel-

evant information for decision-making. The CFO provides the Group’s 

business units with monthly reporting guidelines and is in charge of 

any special reporting instructions related to budgeting and forecast-

ing. The Group’s financial administration distributes, on a regular 

basis, internal information on processes and procedures pertaining 

to financial reporting. Internal control tasks are carried out in accord-

ance with this information. Financial administration also arranges 

targeted training for the organization’s personnel on the procedures 

associated with financial reporting and changes in them, if necessary. 

The Group’s investor relations maintains, in cooperation with the 

Group’s financial administration, the guidelines on the disclosure of 

financial information, including, for example, the disclosure obliga-

tions of a publicly listed company.

Monitoring

Monitoring refers to the process of assessing Dovre Group’s internal 

control system and its performance in the long term. The Group 

continuously monitors its operations also through various separate 

assessments, such as internal and external audits, and supplier audits 

carried out by clients. The Group’s management monitors internal 

control as part of its day-to-day work. The Group Executive Team is 

responsible for ensuring that all operations comply with applicable 

laws and regulations. The Group’s financial administration monitors 

compliance with the financial reporting processes. The financial ad-

ministration also monitors the correctness of external and internal 

financial reporting. The Board of Directors assesses and ensures the 

appropriateness and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control 

and risk management.

The Group’s internal control is also assessed by the Group’s exter-

nal auditor. The auditor verifies the correctness of external annual 

financial reporting. The most significant observations and recom-

mendations of the audit are reported to the Board of Directors.

Insider administration

Dovre Group’s insider guidelines comply with Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd’s 

Guidelines for Insiders effective as of July 1, 2013. The insider guide-

lines forbid insiders, including persons under their guardianship and 

companies where they exercise control, to trade in any company 

securities during the period from the closing date of the accounting 

period to the date of publication of the company’s half-yearly report, 

annual financial statements, or Q1 and Q3 trading statements. The 

minimum period concerned (so-called “closed window”) is always four 

(4) weeks prior to the date of publication of the release in question.

In accordance with applicable legislation, the Group’s public in-

sider register includes members of the Board of Directors, the CEO, 

members of the Group Executive Team, the secretary of the Board of 

Directors (if separately appointed), and the Group’s principal auditor. 

In addition, the Group maintains a company-specific insider register, 

which includes those employees who regularly receive insider infor-

mation through their work. Persons, who are involved in acquisitions 

or other projects that may have an effect on the valuation of the 

Group’s shares, are considered project-specific insiders and are sub-

ject to a temporary trading suspension.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the guidance and super-

vision of insider issues and also establishes project-specific insider 

registers, if necessary. The CFO is responsible for the company’s 

permanent insider register. The insider register of Dovre Group Plc is 

maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. Up-to-date shareholdings of the 

company’s insiders can be seen in Euroclear Finland’s customer ser-

vice point in Helsinki, Finland (Urho Kekkosen katu 5 C). The company 

also maintains a list of public insiders on its website. The information 

on public insider on the company’s website is updated weekly.

Remuneration

The Annual General Meeting decides on the remuneration of the 

Board of Directors. The Board decides on the terms and conditions 

of the employment of the CEO, specified in writing. The remuneration 

principles of the key management are set by the Board. The Board 

annually approves the Group’s short-term and long-term incentive 

schemes.

The Board decides on the CEO’s and the Group Executive Team’s 

remuneration. The remuneration of the management of the Group’s 

business areas is based on the so-called one-over-one principle 

whereby the remuneration decision must be approved by the super-

visor of the employee’s direct supervisor.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2015

Annual General Meeting

Dovre Group’s Annual General Meeting was held in Helsinki on March 

25, 2015.

Board of Directors

The Annual General Meeting elected four (4) members to the Board 

of	Directors.	The	Chairman	of	the	Board	was	Rainer	Häggblom	and	

the Vice Chairman Tero Viherto. The other members were Ilari Ko-

skelo and Arja Koski. All members of the Board were independent of 

the company and significant shareholders. Until the Annual General 

Meeting held on March 25, 2015, the Board of Directors consisted 

of	Rainer	Häggblom	(Chairman),	Tero	Viherto	(Vice	Chairman),	Ilari	

Koskelo, and Arja Koski.
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In 2015, the Board convened 15 times, with an attendance rate of 

98 per cent. The Group’s CFO Heidi Karlsson acted as the Secretary 

of the Board of Directors.

According to the register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd, mem-

bers of the Board held, either in person and/or through a company 

or a family member, a total of 5,060,758 shares in Dovre Group Plc, 

representing 5.1 per cent of the company’s shares and votes. Of this, 

Rainer	Häggblom	held	a	total	of	55,279,	Tero	Viherto	428,449,	Ilari	

Koskelo 4,542,285, and Arja Koski 34,745 shares in Dovre Group Plc.

CEO

Patrick von Essen has served as the Group’s CEO as of April 1, 2014.

Based on the information obtained from Euroclear Finland Ltd, on 

December 31, 2015, Patrick von Essen held a total of 675,000 options 

and a total 130,000 shares in Dovre Group Plc.

Group Executive Team

At the end of 2015, the members of the Group Executive Team were 

Patrick von Essen (CEO), Heidi Karlsson (CFO), Stein Berntsen (Presi-

dent, business area Consulting), Arve Jensen (President, business 

area Norway), Ole Olsen (President, business area Asia Pacific), and 

Frank Ween (President, business area Americas & EMEA). Olsen and 

Ween were appointed to the Group Executive Team on May 28, 2015. 

As a result of the Group’s merger with NPC, completed on May 28, 

2015, and through their respective controlled companies, Olsen and 

Ween are also the Group’s largest individual shareholders.

Based on the information obtained from Euroclear Finland Ltd, 

on December 31, 2015, members of the Group Executive Team held, 

either in person and/or through a company, a total 36,663,018 shares 

in Dovre Group Plc and a total of 1,345,000 stock options. Each stock 

options entitles the owner to subscribe to one share in Dovre Group 

Plc. The above information does not include the shares and options 

held by the company’s CEO Patrick von Essen.

Shareholdings and options of Dovre Group Plc’s public insiders 

on December 31, 2015:

Information includes also ownership through controlled companies 

and the ownership of family members and/or under-aged children 

living in the same household with public insiders.

External audit

In 2015, the Group’s auditor was Ernst & Young Ltd., Authorized Public 

Accountants,	with	Mikko	Järventausta,	A.P.A.	as	the	principal	auditor..

REMUNERATION IN 2015

Board of Directors

The General Meeting decides on the remuneration of the Board of 

Directors. The proposal for the remuneration of the Board of Direc-

tors presented to the General Meeting is based on the shareholders’ 

proposal delivered to the company. In 2015, the proposal for the 

remuneration of the Board of Directors came from shareholders, who 

represented over 25 per cent of all shares and votes in the company.

The Annual General Meeting held on March 25, 2015, decided 

that	the	Chairman	of	the	Board	be	paid	EUR	35,000,	Vice	Chairman	

EUR	25,000,	and	each	other	member	of	the	Board	EUR	22,000	for	

the term which will last to the next Annual General Meeting. Actual 

travelling expenses are compensated as incurred. Of the annual re-

muneration, 40 per cent of the total gross compensation will be 

used to purchase Dovre Group Plc's shares in public trading through 

Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd.

Remuneration	of	the	members	of	the	Board	of	Directors	in	2015:

NAME ShARES OPTIONS

Berntsen Stein (Member of

the Group Executive Team) 0 200,000 

Häggblom	Rainer 

(Chairman of the Board) 55,279 0

Jensen Arve (Member of  

the Group Executive Team)  80,000 545,000

Järventausta	Mikko	(Principal	auditor)	 0	 0

Karlsson Heidi (Member of  

the Group Executive Team) 130,000 450,000

Koskelo Ilari (Board member) 4,542,285 0

Koski Arja (Board member) 34,745 0

Olsen Ole  (Member of  

the Group Executive Team) 18,226,509 50,000

Viherto Tero (Board member) 438,449 0

von Essen Patrick (CEO) 130,000 675,000

Ween Frank (Member of  

the Group Executive Team)  18,226,509 100,000

  
  NO. Of ShARES
  PURChASED 
 ANNUAL REMUNERATION, (40% Of ANNUAL
MEMBER EUR REMUNERATION)

Häggblom	Rainer	(Chairman)	 35,000	 28,226

Koskelo Ilari 22,000 17,741

Koski Arja 22,000 17,741

Viherto Tero (Vice Chairman) 25,000 20,162

Total  104,000 83,870

BOARD MEMBER ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS:   

Häggblom	Rainer	 	 14/15

Koskelo Ilari  15/15 

Koski Arja  15/15

Viherto Tero  15/15
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CEO

The Board of Directors decides on the remuneration of the CEO. The 

terms and conditions of employment of the CEO are approved by the 

Board and specified in writing.

Based on the terms and conditions of employment of the CEO, 

Patrick von Essen’s compensation consists of an annual salary of 

EUR	215,040	(including	holiday	pay,	and	car	and	phone	benefits),	a	

performance-based bonus decided by the Board, and a life insurance. 

The contract includes pension benefits pursuant to the Employees’ 

Pensions Act (TyEL). The contract does not specify the CEO’s retire-

ment age. The contract may be terminated by either party by giving 

three (3) months’ notice. Should the company decide to terminate 

the employment contract, the CEO is entitled to a severance pay 

equivalent of 12 months’ salary including fringe benefits in addition 

to the salary for the period of notice.

The CEO’s bonus is based on the company’s or its individual units’ 

performance and profitability or on the successful completion of 

organizational measures. These objectives are specified annually. 

The	CEO’s	bonus	may	not	exceed	EUR	115,000	over	12	months.	The	

CEO is also eligible for the long-term incentive plans for the Group’s 

key personnel (stock option plans).

In 2015, CEO Patrick von Essen’s total compensation for his role 

as	the	company’s	CEO	was	EUR	254,007,	including	a	total	of	EUR	

34,500 in bonus for 2015. In 2015, the CEO was granted a total of 

75,000 stock options under the Group’s 2013A option plan and a total 

of 300,000 stock options under the Group’s 2013C option plan. Based 

on the information obtained from Euroclear Finland Ltd, on December 

31, 2015, Patrick von Essen held a total 675,000 stock options and a 

total 130,000 shares in Dovre Group Plc.

Group Executive Team

The Group Executive Team’s remuneration consists of total salary 

(including salary in money and typical fringe benefits such as car 

and phone) as well as long- and short-term incentives as decided 

by the Board of Directors. Short-term incentives include a yearly 

performance-based bonus decided by the Board. Long-term in-

centives include option plans, for which all members of the Group 

Executive Team are eligible. The Board decides on option plans. The 

Group has not taken out any additional pension insurance for the 

members of the Group Executive Team.

The Board approves annually the terms and criteria of the Group 

Executive Team’s short-term incentives (or bonuses). Any bonuses 

are based on the achievement of financial targets, such as operating 

result and net sales and other related targets, on either Group and/

or business unit level. In addition, members of the Group Executive 

Team may have either individual or team objectives.

In 2015, the total salaries and benefits of the Group Executive 

Team	members,	not	including	the	CEO,	were	EUR	765,898.	Perfor-

mance	bonuses	totaled	EUR	169,646.	In	2015,	the	Group	granted	a	

total of 350,000 option rights under the Group’s 2013A option plan 

and a total of 300,000 options under the Group’s 2013C option plan 

to the members of the Group Executive Team. This information does 

not include options granted to the company’s CEO Patrick von Essen.

Long-term incentive plans for key personnel (option plans)

In 2015, the company had two open option plans, 2010 and 2013, both 

directed to the Group’s key personnel. Each stock option entitles the 

holder to subscribe one share in Dovre Group Plc.

The 2010 option plan was approved by the company’s Board of 

Directors in their meeting on May 27, 2010 based on the authoriza-

tion given by the Annual General Meeting held on April 18, 2007. The 

share subscription price and period per series under the 2010 option 

plan are as follows:

•	 2010B:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.36;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2013–February 28, 2016.

•	 2010C:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.27;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2014–February 28, 2017.

The subscription period for Dovre Group Plc’s 2010A option plan 

ended on February 28, 2015. In total, 315,000 shares were subscribed 

for under the option plan, 120,000 of which were subscribed for in 

2015. At the end of 2015, a total of 965,000 stock options were out-

standing under the 2010 option plan.

The 2013 option plan was approved by the company’s Board of 

Directors in their meeting on January 24, 2013 based on the authori-

zation given by the Annual General Meeting held on March 15, 2012. 

The share subscription price and period per series under the 2013 

option plan are as follows:

•	 2013A:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.39;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2015–February 29, 2018.

•	 2013B:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.52;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2016–February 28, 2019.

•	 2013C:	Subscription	price	EUR	0.45;	subscription	period	March	1,	

2017–February 28, 2020.

At the end of 2015, the company had granted a total of 2,835,000 

options under the 2013 option plan. The company had in reserve a 

total of 315,000 options.

The full terms and conditions of the company’s option plans can 

be found on the company’s Investor pages at www.dovregroup.com/

investors/corporate-governance.html -> Remuneration.

The company’s Board of Directors has also an authorization grant-

ed by the Annual General Meeting held on March 25, 2015, to decide 

on the issuance of new shares and the granting of option rights and 

other special rights entitling to shares. The authorization in valid 

until June 30, 2016. In accordance with the resolution of the Annual 

General Meeting, the Board may use the authorization, among other 

things, for the company’s incentive programs. The Board may issue 

a maximum of 12,400,000 shares by virtue of the authorization, and 

the Board may use the authorization in one or more installments. The 

Board of Directors did not use the authorization in 2015.
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Board members December 31, 2015

Rainer häggblom 

Chairman of the Board

M. Sc. (For.), M. Sc. (Econ. and Business Admin.)

Member of the Board since March 14, 2013

Board professional and investor

b. 1956, Finnish citizenn

Tero Viherto

Vice Chairman

M. Sc. (Eng.)

Member of the Board since March 27, 2014

Investor

b. 1960, Finnish citizen

Ilari Koskelo

M.Sc., MBA, B. Sc.

Member of the Board since February 28, 2008

Navdata Ltd, Managing Director

b. 1959, Finnish citizen

Arja Koski

M. Sc. (Org. Chem.), eMBA

Member of the Board since March 27, 2014

Talent Vectia Ltd, Managing Consultant

b. 1968, Finnish citizen

Key employment

Jaakko Pöyry Consulting Ltd: 

Managing Director 1995–2008

Key positions of trust

Chairman of the Board: 

The Forest Company Ltd., 

Häggblom	&	Partners	Ltd	Oy

Member of the Board: 

Empower Oy, 

United Bankers Oyj

Key employmen

E.	Öhman	J:or	Rahastoyhtiö	Ltd:	

Managing Director 2008–2011

Evli Pankki Plc: 

Director (Financial Management) 2001–2004; 

Sales Manager 1999–2001

Fleming Asset Management (Luxembourg): 

Sales Manager 1994–1999

Key positions of trust

Chairman of the Board: 

Schengen Advisors Ltd, 

Schengen Investment Ltd

Key employment 

Navdata Ltd: Managing Director and founder

Soil Scout Ltd: Founder

Javad Positioning Systems Inc. and

Global Satellite Solutions Inc.: Founder

Geo/Hydro Inc.: Project Manager

Key positions of trust

Chairman of the Board: Navdata Ltd

Member of the Board: Soil Scout Ltd, 

SaraRasa	Bioindo	Pte.	Ltd.

Key employment

Fortum Power and Heat Ltd: 

Vice	President,	Renewables,	

Power division / Head of Wind and 

Wave Asset Development 2007–2011

Fortum Corporation: Vice President, 

Corporate EHS unit 2000–2007
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Group Executive Team on December 31, 2015

Patrick von Essen

CEO since April 2014

M. Sc. (Eng.)

b. 1963, Finnish citizen

Heidi Karlsson

CFO

Member of the Group Executive Team 
since June 2010 (excluding 
September 2013–June 2014)

M. Sc. (Econ.)

b. 1967, Finnish citizen

Stein Berntsen

President, business area Consulting

Member of the Group Executive Team 
since July 2014

M. Sc. (Econ. and BA)

b. 1965, Norwegian citizen

Key employment

Fiskars Corporation: Vice President, 

Real Estate 2012–2014

Neste Jacobs Oy: Vice President, 

Oil & Gas 2011–2012

Pöyry Oyj: President, Renewable energy 

2009–2011; President, Pulp & Paper 2007–2008; 

President, North America 2005–2006; 

Business Development Manager 

(Pöyry Forest Industry Oy) 1999–2005

ABB Service Oy: Global Manager, 

Pulp & Paper Industry Maintenance 1998–1999

Poyry Sweden AB: Business Development Manager 

1997–1998

Key positions of trust

Etteplan Oyj

Key employment

Nokia Siemens Networks: 

Head of Management Reporting and  

Project Manager 2009–2010; 

Region Controller (Latin America) 2007–2009

Nokia Networks: Managerial finance positions 

in Germany, Switzerland, China, Finland, and 

Brazil 1993-2006

Key employment

Dovre Group AS: 

Managing Director/Managing Partner, 

Dovre Consulting Norway 2011–2014; 

EVP, Management Consulting 2008–2011

Dovre International AS: Vice President, 

Project Management 2006–2008; 

Vice President, Project Consulting 2002–2008; 

Manager Project Analysis 2000–2002; 

Project Control Manager (at Statoil) 1999–2000; 

Senior Consultant (at Statoil) 1997–1999

Philips Petroleum AS: Department Manager, 

Risk Management 1995–1997; 

Senior Cost Estimator 1993–1995; 

Cost and Contracts Engineer 1991–1993; 

Cost Estimator 1989–1991
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Arve Jensen

President, business area Norway

Member of the Group Executive Team 
since October 2009

M. Sc. (Mech.)

b. 1959, Norwegian citizen

Ole Olsen

President, business area Asia Pacific

Member of the Group Executive Team 
since May 2015

B. Sc. (Mech.), Diploma in Economics and 

Management, MBA

b. 1962, Norwegian citizen

frank Ween

President, business area Americas & EMEA

Member of the Group Executive Team 
since May 2015

B. Sc. (Eng.)

b. 1971, Norwegian citizen

Key employment

Dovre Group AS: 

EVP Norway 2009–2012; Managing Director

(Dovre International AS) 2001–2008; 

Regional	Director	1995–2001;	

Consultant 1997-1999

ABB Global Engineering AS: 

Senior Project Engineer 1990–1993

Key employment

NPC Group AS: 

CEO 2013–2015; 

Regional	Director	Asia	Pacific	2010–2015;	

Head of Business Development 2010–2013; 

Project	Mechanical	Engineer	/	Client	Rep.	seconded	

to Marathon Petroleum Company 2008–2009;

Project	Mechanical	Engineer	/	Client	Rep.	seconded	

to ConocoPhillips Norway 2003–2007; 

Lead Mechanical Engineer seconded to 

Fabricom 2002–2003; 

Lead Mechanical Engineer seconded to 

Aibel 2000–2002

Aker Solutions AS: Lead Mechanical Engineer 

1990–1996 and 1999–2000

Brown	&	Root	Energy	Services	/	Halliburton:	

Lead Mechanical Engineer / Discipline Lead / 

Engineering Manager 1996–1999

Key employment
Norwegian Petroleum Consultants AS: 
CEO 2010–2011 and 2012–2015; 
Lead Automation Engineer 
seconded to BP 2011–2012
Engineering Partners AS: 
Executive Chairman 2005–2010; 
Company	Rep.	Projects	
& Part of VOS Team Valhalla, 
seconded to BP 2005–2008; 
Technical Lead SAS 
seconded to Mollier 2004–2005; 
Lead SAS Engineer 
seconded to Aker Offshore Partners 2002–2004
ABB Offshore Systems AS: 
Senior Instrument Engineer 2000–2002
Kværner ASA: Kværner Oil & Gas, 
Lead Field Engineer EIT, Package Engineer, 
Senior Instrument Engineer 1998–2000; 
Kværner Installasjon, Lead EIT Operator 
(Foreman), Electrician 1991–1997
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Norway

Dovre Group Consulting aS

Dovre Group Projects aS

Oslo

Inkognitogaten 36, 4. etg.

0256 Oslo

tel. +47-40-005 900

fiNlaND

Dovre Group Plc

Maapallonkuja 1 B

02210 Espoo

tel. +358-20-436 2000

Stavanger

Løkkeveien 99

4008 Stavanger

tel. +47-40-005 900

Bergen

Kokstaddalen 4

5257 Bergen

tel. +47-55-614 140

CaNaDa

Dovre Canada ltd.

St. John’s

5 Hill O’Chips

St John’s, NL, Canada A1C 0A8

tel. +1-709-754 2145

Calgary

Suite 1205, Hanover Building

101 – 6th Ave S.W.

Calgary, AB, Canada T2P 3P4

tel. +1-403-269 3119

uSa

Dovre Group inc.

11000 Richmond Avenue

Suite 580

Houston, Texas 77042

tel. +1-713-574 2021

ruSSia

llC Dovre Group

172 Mira Avenue

Room 46, Pacific Plaza Hotel

Yuzhno-Sakhalisnk

Sakhalinskaya Oblast

Russia, 693000

tel. +7-424-245 5013

SiNGaPore

NPC Pte. ltd.

3 Harbour Front Place

# 04-04 Harbour Front Tower 2

Singapore 099254

tel. +65-6274 0355

South Korea

Star Class Tower B/D 5th floor

#48, Junggok1-ro, Geoje-si

Gyeongnam, Korea 656-936

tel. +82-10-8757 7918

Europe and the Middle East 

North America

Asia Pacific

uNiteD arab emirateS

Office 302, LLJ Property

Al Jazira Sports Club (West Wing)

Abu Dhabi

United Arab Emirates

tel. +971-56-126 5530

Dovre Group Plc

Maapallonkuja 1 B

02210 Espoo

tel. +358-20–436 2000

www.dovregroup.com


